THE MILNOR FIBRATION OF A HYPERPLANE ARRANGEMENT: FROM MODULAR RESONANCE TO ALGEBRAIC MONODROMY

STEFAN PAPADIMA¹ AND ALEXANDER I. SUCIU²

ABSTRACT. A central question in arrangement theory is to determine whether the characteristic polynomial Δ_q of the algebraic monodromy acting on the homology group $H_q(F(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{C})$ of the Milnor fiber of a complex hyperplane arrangement \mathcal{A} is determined by the intersection lattice $L(\mathcal{A})$. Under simple combinatorial conditions, we show that the multiplicities of the factors of Δ_1 corresponding to certain eigenvalues of order a power of a prime p are equal to the Aomoto–Betti numbers $\beta_p(\mathcal{A})$, which in turn are extracted from $L(\mathcal{A})$. When \mathcal{A} defines an arrangement of projective lines with only double and triple points, this leads to a combinatorial formula for the algebraic monodromy. To obtain these results, we relate nets on the underlying matroid of \mathcal{A} to resonance varieties in positive characteristic. Using modular invariants of nets, we find a new realizability obstruction (over \mathbb{C}) for matroids, and we estimate the number of essential components in the first complex resonance variety of \mathcal{A} . Our approach also reveals a rather unexpected connection of modular resonance with the geometry of $SL_2(\mathbb{C})$ -representation varieties, which are governed by the Maurer–Cartan equation.

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction and statement of results	2
2.	Matroids and multinets	9
3.	Modular Aomoto-Betti numbers and resonance varieties	14
4.	From modular resonance to nets	19
5.	Flat connections and holonomy Lie algebras	21
6.	Complex resonance varieties and pencils	25
7.	Evaluation maps and multinets	29
8.	Characteristic varieties and the Milnor fibration	33
9.	A family of matroids	39
References		48

²Partially supported by NSF grant DMS–1010298, NSA grant H98230-13-1-0225, and Simons Foundation collaboration grant 354156.

²⁰¹⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 32S55, 52C35; Secondary 05B35, 14C21, 14F35, 32S22, 55N25.

Key words and phrases. Milnor fibration, algebraic monodromy, hyperplane arrangement, simple matroid, resonance variety, characteristic variety, holonomy Lie algebra, flat connection, multinet, pencil.

¹Partially supported by the Romanian Ministry of National Education, CNCS-UEFISCDI, grant PNII-ID-PCE-2012-4-0156.

STEFAN PAPADIMA AND ALEXANDER I. SUCIU

1. INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF RESULTS

1.1. **The Milnor fibration.** In his seminal book on complex hypersurface singularities, Milnor [45] introduced a fibration that soon became the central object of study in the field, and now bears his name. In its simplest manifestation, Milnor's construction associates to each homogeneous polynomial $Q \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_\ell]$ a smooth fibration over \mathbb{C}^* , by restricting the polynomial map $Q \colon \mathbb{C}^\ell \to \mathbb{C}$ to the complement of the zero-set of Q.

The Milnor fiber of the polynomial, $F = Q^{-1}(1)$, is an affine manifold, and thus has the homotopy type of a finite CW-complex of dimension $\ell - 1$. The monodromy of the fibration is the map $h: F \to F$, $z \mapsto e^{2\pi i/n} z$, where $n = \deg Q$. The induced homomorphisms in homology, $h_q: H_q(F, \mathbb{C}) \to H_q(F, \mathbb{C})$, are all diagonalizable, with *n*-th roots of unity as eigenvalues.

A key question, then, is to compute the characteristic polynomials of these operators in terms of available data. We will only address here the case q = 1, which is already far from solved if the polynomial Q has a non-isolated singularity at 0.

1.2. Hyperplane arrangements. Arguably the simplest situation is when the polynomial Q completely factors into distinct linear forms. This situation is neatly described by a hyperplane arrangement, that is, a finite collection \mathcal{A} of codimension-1 linear subspaces in \mathbb{C}^{ℓ} . Choosing a linear form f_H with kernel H for each hyperplane $H \in \mathcal{A}$, we obtain a homogeneous polynomial, $Q = \prod_{H \in \mathcal{A}} f_H$, which in turn defines the Milnor fibration of the arrangement.

To analyze this fibration, we turn to the rich combinatorial structure encoded in the intersection lattice of the arrangement, L(A), that is, the poset of all intersections of hyperplanes in A (also known as flats), ordered by reverse inclusion, and ranked by codimension. We then have the following, much studied problem, which was raised in [30, Problem 9A] and [34, Problem 4.145], and still remains open.

Problem 1.1. Given a hyperplane arrangement A, is the characteristic polynomial of the algebraic monodromy of the Milnor fibration, $\Delta_A(t) = \det(tI - h_1)$, determined by the intersection lattice L(A)? If so, give an explicit combinatorial formula to compute it.

Without essential loss of generality, we may assume that the ambient dimension is $\ell = 3$, in which case the projectivization \overline{A} is an arrangement of lines in \mathbb{CP}^2 . In Theorem 1.2, we give a positive answer to Problem 1.1 in the case when those lines intersect only in double or triple points. Despite its apparent simplicity, this case already poses quite a challenge. It was previously attacked in a number of papers, including [14, 18, 37], but only partial answers were obtained as a result. Our approach, though, provides a complete answer in this setting.

As the multiplicities of those intersection points increase, we still get some answers, albeit not complete ones. For instance, in Theorem 1.6 we identify in combinatorial

terms the number of times the cyclotomic factor $\Phi_3(t)$ appears in $\Delta_A(t)$, under the assumption that \overline{A} has no intersection points of multiplicity 3r, with r > 1, while in Theorem 1.7 we treat the analogous problem for the cyclotomic factors $\Phi_2(t)$ and $\Phi_4(t)$.

1.3. Combinatorics and the algebraic monodromy. In order to describe our results in more detail, we need to introduce some notation. Let $M(\mathcal{A})$ be the complement of the arrangement, and let $Q: M(\mathcal{A}) \to \mathbb{C}^*$ be the Milnor fibration, with Milnor fiber $F(\mathcal{A})$. Set $e_d(\mathcal{A}) = 0$ if $d \nmid n$. The polynomial

(1)
$$\Delta_{\mathcal{A}}(t) = (t-1)^{n-1} \cdot \prod_{1 < d \mid n} \Phi_d(t)^{e_d(\mathcal{A})}$$

encodes the structure of the vector space $H_1(F(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{C})$, viewed as a module over the group algebra $\mathbb{C}[\mathbb{Z}_n]$ via the action of the monodromy operator h_1 . More precisely,

(2)
$$H_1(F(\mathcal{A}),\mathbb{C}) = (\mathbb{C}[t]/(t-1))^{n-1} \oplus \bigoplus_{1 < d \mid n} (\mathbb{C}[t]/\Phi_d(t))^{e_d(\mathcal{A})}.$$

Therefore, Problem 1.1 amounts to deciding whether the integers $e_d(A)$ are combinatorially determined, and, if so, computing them explicitly.

Let $L_s(\mathcal{A})$ be the set of codimension *s* flats in $L(\mathcal{A})$. For each such flat *X*, let \mathcal{A}_X be the subarrangement consisting of all hyperplanes that contain *X*. Finally, let mult(\mathcal{A}) be the set of integers $q \ge 3$ for which there is a flat $X \in L_2(\mathcal{A})$ such that *X* has multiplicity *q*, i.e., $|\mathcal{A}_X| = q$. Not all divisors of *n* appear in the above formulas. Indeed, as shown by Libgober in [35, 36], if *d* does not divide one of the integers comprising mult(\mathcal{A}), the exponent $e_d(\mathcal{A})$ vanishes. In particular, if mult(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq {3}, then only $e_3(\mathcal{A})$ may be non-zero. Our first main result computes this integer under this assumption.

Theorem 1.2. Suppose $L_2(\mathcal{A})$ has only flats of multiplicity 2 and 3. Then the characteristic polynomial of the algebraic monodromy of the Milnor fibration is given by

(3)
$$\Delta_{\mathcal{A}}(t) = (t-1)^{|\mathcal{A}|-1} \cdot (t^2 + t + 1)^{\beta_3(\mathcal{A})}$$

where $\beta_3(\mathcal{A})$ is an integer between 0 and 2 that depends only on $L_{\leq 2}(\mathcal{A})$.

As we shall explain below, the combinatorial invariant $\beta_3(\mathcal{A})$ is constructed from the mod 3 cohomology ring of $M(\mathcal{A})$. Our theorem implies at once a result of Libgober ([37, Theorem 1.1]), which states that, under the same assumption on multiplicities, the question whether $\Delta_{\mathcal{A}}(t)$ equals $(t-1)^{|\mathcal{A}|-1}$ or not can be decided combinatorially. Our result is much stronger, in that it gives a completely combinatorial formula for the polynomial $\Delta_{\mathcal{A}}(t)$, by showing that the cyclotomic factor $\Phi_3(t)$ appears with multiplicity $e_3(\mathcal{A}) = \beta_3(\mathcal{A})$, and also by showing that this multiplicity can be at most 2.

1.4. **Resonance varieties and multinets.** Fix a commutative Noetherian ring \Bbbk . A celebrated theorem of Orlik and Solomon [46] asserts that the cohomology ring $H^*(M(\mathcal{A}), \Bbbk)$ is isomorphic to the OS-algebra of the underlying matroid, $A^*(\mathcal{A}) \otimes \Bbbk$, and thus is determined by the (ranked) intersection poset $L(\mathcal{A})$. Key to our approach are the resonance

varieties of A, which keep track in a subtle way of the vanishing cup products in this ring. For our purposes here, we will only be interested in resonance in degree 1.

For an element $\tau \in A^1(\mathcal{A}) \otimes \Bbbk = \Bbbk^{\mathcal{A}}$, left-multiplication by τ in the cohomology ring gives rise to a k-cochain complex, $(A^*(\mathcal{A}) \otimes \Bbbk, \tau)$. The (first) resonance variety of \mathcal{A} over \Bbbk , denoted $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A}, \Bbbk)$, is the locus of those elements τ for which the homology in degree 1 of this complex is non-zero. When \Bbbk is a field, this set is a homogeneous subvariety of the affine space $\Bbbk^{\mathcal{A}}$. When $\Bbbk = \mathbb{C}$, all the irreducible components of $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A}, \mathbb{C})$ are linear subspaces, intersecting transversely at 0, see [9, 38]. In positive characteristic, the components of $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A}, \Bbbk)$ may be non-linear, or may have non-transverse intersection, see [26]. Very useful to us will be a result of Falk and Yuzvinsky [27] and Marco Buzunáriz [43], which describes all components of $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A}, \mathbb{C})$ in terms of multinets on the arrangement \mathcal{A} and its subarrangements.

A *k*-multinet on \mathcal{A} is a partition of the arrangement into $k \ge 3$ subsets \mathcal{A}_{α} , together with an assignment of multiplicities m_H to each $H \in \mathcal{A}$, and a choice of rank 2 flats, called the base locus. All these data must satisfy certain compatibility conditions. For instance, any two hyperplanes from different parts of the partition intersect in the base locus, while the sum of the multiplicities over each part is constant. Furthermore, if X is a flat in the base locus, then the sum $n_X = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{A}_{\alpha} \cap \mathcal{A}_X} m_H$ is independent of α .

A multinet as above is *reduced* if all the multiplicities m_H are equal to 1. If, moreover, all the numbers n_X are equal to 1, the multinet is, in fact, a *net*—a classical notion from combinatorial geometry.

Hyperplane arrangements may be viewed as simple matroids realizable over the field of complex numbers. (From now on, when we speak about *realizable* matroids, we mean realizability over \mathbb{C} .) For an arbitrary simple matroid \mathscr{M} , one may speak about (reduced) multinets and nets, as well as resonance varieties $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathscr{M}, \Bbbk)$ with arbitrary coefficients. Let $B_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}) \subseteq \Bbbk^{\mathscr{M}}$ be the constant functions, and let $\sigma \in B_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M})$ be the function taking the constant value 1. The *cocycle space* $Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}) \subseteq \Bbbk^{\mathscr{M}}$ is defined by the linear condition $\sigma \cdot \tau = 0$. Plainly, $\sigma \in \mathscr{R}_1(\mathscr{M}, \Bbbk)$ if and only if $Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}) \neq B_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M})$. When \Bbbk is a field, the *Aomoto–Betti number* of the matroid is defined as

(4)
$$\beta_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}) = \dim_{\Bbbk} Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}) / B_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}).$$

Clearly, this integer depends only on $p := char(\mathbb{k})$, and so will often be denoted simply by $\beta_p(\mathcal{M})$.

Having multinets in mind, let us consider a finite set \Bbbk with $k \ge 3$ elements, and define $B_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M}) \subseteq \Bbbk^{\mathcal{M}}$ as before. The subset of 'special' \Bbbk -cocycles, $Z'_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M}) \subseteq \Bbbk^{\mathcal{M}}$, consists of those functions τ with the property that their restriction to an arbitrary flat from $L_2(\mathcal{M})$ is either constant or bijective. Given a partition, $\mathcal{M} = \prod_{\alpha \in \Bbbk} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}$, we associate to it the element $\tau \in \Bbbk^{\mathcal{M}}$ defined by $\tau_u = \alpha$, for $u \in \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}$.

Our starting point is the following result, which relates nets to modular resonance, and which will be proved in ^{4.3}.

Theorem 1.3. Let \mathcal{M} be a simple matroid, and let $k \ge 3$ be an integer. Then:

(i) For any k-element set k, the above construction induces a bijection,

$$\lambda_{\Bbbk} \colon \{k \text{-nets on } \mathcal{M}\} \xrightarrow{\simeq} Z'_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M}) \setminus B_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M})$$

(ii) If $k \neq 2 \mod 4$, there is a commutative ring \Bbbk of cardinality k such that $Z'_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}) \subseteq Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M})$. If, in fact, $k = p^s$, for some prime p, then \Bbbk can be chosen to be the Galois field $\Bbbk = \mathbb{F}_{p^s}$.

1.5. Matroid realizability and essential components. It is well-known that non-trivial k-nets on simple matroids exist, for all $k \ge 3$. For realizable matroids, the picture looks completely different: by a result of Yuzvinsky [59], non-trivial k-nets exist only for k = 3 or 4; many examples of 3-nets appear naturally, while the only known 4-net comes from the famous Hessian configuration [58].

The difference between realizable and non-realizable matroids comes to the fore in §9. Starting from the affine geometries $AG(m, \mathbb{k})$, where $\mathbb{k} = \mathbb{F}_{p^s}$ is a Galois field with at least 3 elements, we construct by a process of rank 3 truncation a family of matroids with ground set \mathbb{k}^m , which we denote by $\mathscr{M}_{\mathbb{k}}(m)$. We then show in Proposition 9.5 that $\beta_p(\mathscr{M}_{\mathbb{k}}(m)) \ge m$. Furthermore, we show in Corollary 9.8 that, for $m \ge 2$, the lattice $L_{\leq 2}(AG(m, \mathbb{k}))$ is realizable over \mathbb{C} if and only if m = 2 and $\mathbb{k} = \mathbb{F}_3$, thereby strengthening a classical result from matroid theory [47].

Using a delicate analysis of 3-nets supported by the matroids $\mathcal{M}(m) = \mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{F}_3}(m)$ and a result of Yuzvinsky [58] in complex projective geometry, we establish in Corollary 9.21 the following non-realizability criterion.

Theorem 1.4. Let \mathscr{M} be a simple matroid, and suppose there are 3-nets \mathcal{N} , \mathcal{N}' , and \mathcal{N}'' on \mathscr{M} such that $[\lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{N})]$, $[\lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{N}')]$, and $[\lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{N}'')]$ are independent in $Z_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathscr{M})/B_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathscr{M})$. Then \mathscr{M} is not realizable over \mathbb{C} .

For an arrangement \mathcal{A} , the irreducible components of $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A}, \mathbb{C})$ corresponding to multinets on \mathcal{A} are called *essential*. We denote those components arising from *k*-nets by $\text{Ess}_k(\mathcal{A})$. By the the above discussion, $\text{Ess}_k(\mathcal{A}) = \emptyset$ for $k \ge 5$. In §6.5, we use Theorem 1.3 to obtain a good estimate on the size of these sets in the remaining cases.

Theorem 1.5. Let A be an arrangement. For k = 3 or 4,

(5)
$$|\operatorname{Ess}_{k}(\mathcal{A})| \leq \frac{k^{\beta_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{A})} - 1}{(k-1)!},$$

where $\mathbb{k} = \mathbb{F}_k$. Moreover, the sets $\text{Ess}_3(\mathcal{A})$ and $\text{Ess}_4(\mathcal{A})$ cannot be simultaneously nonempty.

1.6. **Modular bounds.** Work of Cohen and Orlik [7, Theorem 1.3], as sharpened by Papadima and Suciu [49, Theorem 11.3], gives the following inequalities:

(6)
$$e_{p^s}(\mathcal{A}) \leq \beta_p(\mathcal{A}), \text{ for all } s \geq 1.$$

In other words, the exponents of prime-power order p^s are bounded above by the (combinatorially defined) β_p -invariants of the arrangement. As shown in [49], these bounds are of a topological nature: they are valid for spaces much more general than arrangement complements, but they are far from being sharp in complete generality. The modular bounds were first used in [39] to study the algebraic monodromy of the Milnor fibration, especially in the context of (signed) graphic arrangements.

We are now ready to state our next main result, which in particular shows that, under certain combinatorial conditions, the above modular bounds are sharp, at least for the prime p = 3 and for s = 1.

Theorem 1.6. Let \mathcal{M} be a simple matroid. Suppose $L_2(\mathcal{M})$ has no flats of multiplicity 3r, for any r > 1. Then, the following conditions are equivalent:

- (i) $L_{\leq 2}(\mathcal{M})$ admits a reduced 3-multinet.
- (ii) $L_{\leq 2}(\mathcal{M})$ admits a 3-net.
- (iii) $\beta_3(\mathcal{M}) \neq 0$.

Moreover, if \mathcal{M} is realized by an arrangement \mathcal{A} , the following hold:

- (iv) $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}) \leq 2$.
- (v) $e_3(\mathcal{A}) = \beta_3(\mathcal{A}).$
- (vi) $|\text{Ess}_3(\mathcal{A})| = (3^{\beta_3(\mathcal{A})} 1)/2.$

In the matroidal part of the above result, the equivalence (i) \Leftrightarrow (ii) follows immediately from Lemma 2.1. The key matroidal equivalence, (ii) \Leftrightarrow (iii), which uses Theorem 1.3, is proved in §4.4. As we saw in §1.5, the invariant $\beta_3(\mathcal{M})$ can take arbitrary large values. The striking fact, though, is that its range of values is drastically constrained in the realizable case from Theorem 1.6(iv).

Indeed, for arrangements \mathcal{A} , we establish the crucial inequality (iv) in Theorem 9.10, using in an essential way Theorem 1.4. In Theorem 8.6, we prove the implication (iv) \Rightarrow (v). Finally, equality (vi) is established in §6.5. In the particular case when mult(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq {3}, parts (iv) and (v) together imply Theorem 1.2.

Our assumption on multiplicities is definitely needed. This is illustrated in Example 8.11, where we produce a family of arrangements $\{A_{3d+1}\}_{d\geq 1}$ having rank-2 flats of multiplicity 3(d + 1): these arrangements support no reduced 3-multinets, yet satisfy $e_3(A_{3d+1}) = \beta_3(A_{3d+1}) = 1$; in particular, property (vi) fails. Nevertheless, both (iv) and (v) hold for this family of arrangements, as well as for the related family of monomial arrangements from Example 8.10, which also violate our hypothesis.

Our approach also allows us to characterize 4-nets in terms of mod 2 resonance, and to find combinatorial conditions which imply that the modular bounds (6) are again sharp, for p = 2 and $s \le 2$. The next result is proved in §8.6.

Theorem 1.7. For a simple matroid \mathcal{M} , the following are equivalent:

- (i) $Z'_{\mathbb{F}_4}(\mathscr{M}) \neq B_{\mathbb{F}_4}(\mathscr{M}).$
- (ii) $L_{\leq 2}(\mathcal{M})$ supports a 4-net.

If \mathscr{M} is realized by an arrangement \mathcal{A} with $\beta_2(\mathcal{A}) \leq 2$ and the above conditions hold, then $e_2(\mathcal{A}) = e_4(\mathcal{A}) = \beta_2(\mathcal{A}) = 2$.

1.7. **Flat connections.** Foundational results due to Goldman and Millson [28], together with related work from [32, 22, 21], imply that the local geometry of representation varieties of fundamental groups of arrangement complements in linear algebraic groups, near the trivial representation, is determined by the global geometry of varieties of flat connections on Orlik–Solomon algebras with values in the corresponding Lie algebras.

In this paper, we establish a link between the information on modular resonance encoded by non-constant special k-cocycles on an arrangement \mathcal{A} , and g-valued flat connections on $A(\mathcal{A}) \otimes \mathbb{C}$, for an arbitrary finite-dimensional complex Lie algebra g. More precisely, we denote by $\mathcal{H}^{\Bbbk}(\mathfrak{g}) \subseteq \mathfrak{g}^{\Bbbk}$ the subspace of vectors with zero sum of coordinates, and declare a vector in $\mathcal{H}^{\Bbbk}(\mathfrak{g})$ to be regular if the span of its coordinates has dimension at least 2. Inside the variety of flat connections, $\mathscr{F}(A(\mathcal{A}) \otimes \mathbb{C}, \mathfrak{g})$, the elements which do not come from Lie subalgebras of \mathfrak{g} of dimension at most 1 are also called regular.

In Proposition 5.3, we associate to every special cocycle $\tau \in Z'_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{A}) \setminus B_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{A})$ an embedding $\operatorname{ev}_{\tau} \colon \mathcal{H}^{\Bbbk}(\mathfrak{g}) \hookrightarrow \mathscr{F}(\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{A}) \otimes \mathbb{C}, \mathfrak{g})$ which preserves the regular parts. Building on recent work from [21, 41], we then exploit this construction in two ways, for $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})$. On one hand, as noted in Remark 7.5, the construction gives the inverse of the map λ_{\Bbbk} from Theorem 1.3(i). On the other hand, we use a version of this construction, involving a subarrangement of \mathcal{A} as a second input, to arrive at the following result, which is proved in Theorem 7.6.

Theorem 1.8. Suppose that, for every subarrangement $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$, all essential components of $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{B}, \mathbb{C})$ arise from nets on \mathcal{B} . Then

$$\mathscr{F}_{\mathrm{reg}}(A(\mathcal{A})\otimes\mathbb{C},\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})) = \bigcup_{\mathcal{B},\tau} \, \mathrm{ev}^{\mathcal{B}}_{\tau}(\mathcal{H}^{\Bbbk}_{\mathrm{reg}}(\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C}))) \, ,$$

where the union is taken over all $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ and all non-constant special \Bbbk -cocycles $\tau \in Z'_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{B}) \setminus B_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{B})$.

When \mathcal{A} satisfies the above combinatorial condition (for instance, when \mathcal{A} is an unsigned graphic arrangement), it follows that the variety of $\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})$ -valued flat connections has an interesting property: it can be reconstructed in an explicit way from information on modular resonance.

1.8. **Discussion.** We return now to Problem 1.1, and discuss the literature surrounding it, as well as our approach to solving it in some notable special cases. Nearly half the papers in our bibliography are directly related to this problem. This (non-exhaustive) list of papers may give the reader an idea about the intense activity devoted to this topic, and the variety of tools used to tackle it.

In [4, 5, 6, 14, 15, 18, 19, 36, 37], mostly geometric methods (such as superabundance of linear systems of polynomials, logarithmic forms, and Mixed Hodge theory) have been used. It seems worth mentioning that our approach also provides answers to rather

subtle geometric questions. For instance, a superabundance problem raised by Dimca in [14] is settled in Remark 8.9.

The topological approach to Problem 1.1 traces its origins to the work of Cohen and Suciu [8, 9] on Milnor fibrations and characteristic varieties of arrangements, which builds in turn on Arapura's theory [1] of characteristic varieties of quasi-projective manifolds. This theory, as refined in [2, 13], provides a geometric interpretation of these topologically defined varieties in terms of (orbifold) pencils.

A crucial ingredient in our approach is the idea to connect the Orlik–Solomon algebra in positive characteristic to the monodromy of the Milnor fibration. This idea, which appeared in [7, 11], was developed and generalized in [49]. The modular bounds from (6), first exploited in a systematic way by Măcinic and Papadima in [39], have since been put to use in [3, 18, 54]. Theorem 1.2 is used by Dimca in [16] to solve a difficult problem, namely the combinatorial computation of the equivariant Poincaré-Deligne polynomial for the Milnor fiber of a triple point line arrangement.

On the combinatorial side, multinets and their relationship with complex resonance varieties, established in [27, 43] and further developed in [50, 59] play an important role in [12, 18, 20, 52, 53], and are key to our approach. Here, the novelty in our viewpoint is to relate (multi)nets to modular resonance and varieties of flat connections.

1.9. **Conclusion.** The many examples we discuss in this paper show a strikingly similar pattern, whereby the only interesting primes, as far as the algebraic monodromy of the Milnor fibration goes, are p = 2 and p = 3. Furthermore, all rank 3 simplicial arrangements examined by Yoshinaga in [57] satisfy $e_3(\mathcal{A}) = 0$ or 1, and $e_d(\mathcal{A}) = 0$, otherwise. Finally, we do not know of any arrangement \mathcal{A} of rank at least 3 for which $\beta_p(\mathcal{A}) \neq 0$ if p > 3. By [39], no such example may be found among subarrangements of non-exceptional Coxeter arrangements.

Theorems 1.6 and 1.7, together with these and other considerations lead us to formulate the following conjecture.

Conjecture 1.9. Let \mathcal{A} be an arrangement of rank at least 3. Then $e_{p^s}(\mathcal{A}) = 0$ for all primes p and integers $s \ge 1$, with two possible exceptions:

(7)
$$e_2(\mathcal{A}) = e_4(\mathcal{A}) = \beta_2(\mathcal{A}) \text{ and } e_3(\mathcal{A}) = \beta_3(\mathcal{A})$$

When $e_d(A) = 0$ for all divisors d of |A| which are not prime powers, this conjecture would give the following complete answer to Problem 1.1:

(8)
$$\Delta_{\mathcal{A}}(t) = (t-1)^{|\mathcal{A}|-1}((t+1)(t^2+1))^{\beta_2(\mathcal{A})}(t^2+t+1)^{\beta_3(\mathcal{A})}.$$

Recent results from [40, 17, 23] establish the validity of this conjecture, in the strong form (8), for all complex reflection arrangements.

1.10. **Organization of the paper.** We start in §2 with a review of matroids and multinets, and establish some simple lemmas which will be of use later on. In §3 we discuss the Orlik–Solomon algebra, the resonance varieties, and the Aomoto–Betti numbers of a matroid, and we explore some of the constraints imposed on those numbers by the existence of nets on the matroid. We then construct in §4 suitable parameter sets for nets on matroids, and relate these parameter sets to modular resonance, leading to a proof of Theorem 1.3 and the combinatorial parts of Theorems 1.6 and 1.7.

We switch our point of view in §5, where we study the space of g-valued flat connections on the Orlik–Solomon algebra of a simple matroid \mathcal{M} , and the closely related holonomy Lie algebra $\mathfrak{h}(\mathcal{M})$. This analysis is continued in §7, where we find a combinatorial condition insuring that the variety of $\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})$ -valued flat connections on the Orlik–Solomon algebra of an arrangement \mathcal{A} can be reconstructed explicitly from information on modular resonance. The definitions and results from these two sections regarding the space of flat connections are not used in the remainder of the paper, but are of independent interest.

In §6 we narrow our focus to realizable matroids, and recall the description of the resonance variety $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A}, \mathbb{C})$ of an arrangement \mathcal{A} in terms of multinets on subarrangements of \mathcal{A} . As an application of these techniques, we prove Theorem 1.5 and Theorem 1.6(vi). In §8 we use the jump loci for homology in rank 1 local systems to derive information on the characteristic polynomial of the algebraic monodromy of the Milnor fiber $F(\mathcal{A})$. In the process, we establish implication (iv) \Rightarrow (v) from Theorem 1.6, and we finish the proof of Theorem 1.7.

In the last section, we construct in §9.1–9.3 an infinite family of rank 3 matroids, $\mathcal{M}(m)$, which are realizable over \mathbb{C} if and only if m = 2, and which have the property that $\beta_3(\mathcal{M}(m)) = m$. Finally, in §9.4–9.6 we use this information to establish the key part (iv) of Theorem 1.6, thereby completing the proof of this theorem.

To recap, the logical dependence of the remaining sections is given by the following Leitfaden:



2. MATROIDS AND MULTINETS

The combinatorics of a hyperplane arrangement is encoded in its intersection lattice, which in turn can be viewed as a lattice of flats of a realizable matroid. In this section, we discuss multinet structures on matroids, with special emphasis on nets. As a byproduct, we prove the combinatorial equivalence (i) \Leftrightarrow (ii) from Theorem 1.6.

2.1. **Matroids.** We start by reviewing the notion of matroid. There are many ways to axiomatize this notion, which unifies several concepts in linear algebra, graph theory,

discrete geometry, and the theory of hyperplane arrangements, see for instance Wilson's survey [56]. We mention here only the ones that will be needed in the sequel.

A *matroid* is a finite set \mathcal{M} , together with a collection of subsets, called the *independent sets*, which satisfy the following axioms: (1) the empty set is independent; (2) any proper subset of an independent set is independent; and (3) if I and J are independent sets and |I| > |J|, then there exists $u \in I \setminus J$ such that $J \cup \{u\}$ is independent. A maximal independent set is called a *basis*, while a minimal dependent set is called a *circuit*.

The *rank* of a subset $S \subset \mathcal{M}$ is the size of the largest independent subset of S. A subset is *closed* if it is maximal for its rank; the closure \overline{S} of a subset $S \subset \mathcal{M}$ is the intersection of all closed sets containing S. Closed sets are also called *flats*.

We will consider only *simple* matroids, defined by the condition that all subsets of size at most two are independent.

The set of flats of \mathcal{M} , ordered by inclusion, forms a geometric lattice, $L(\mathcal{M})$, whose atoms are the elements of \mathcal{M} . We will denote by $L_s(\mathcal{M})$ the set of rank-*s* flats, and by $L_{\leq s}(\mathcal{M})$ the sub-poset of flats of rank at most *s*. We say that a flat *X* has multiplicity *q* if |X| = q. The join of two flats *X* and *Y* is given by $X \vee Y = \overline{X \cup Y}$, while the meet is given by $X \wedge Y = X \cap Y$.

2.2. Hyperplane arrangements. An arrangement of hyperplanes is a finite set \mathcal{A} of codimension-1 linear subspaces in a finite-dimensional, complex vector space \mathbb{C}^{ℓ} . We will assume throughout that the arrangement is central, that is, all the hyperplanes pass through the origin. Projectivizing, we obtain an arrangement $\overline{\mathcal{A}} = {\overline{H} \mid H \in \mathcal{A}}$ of projective, codimension-1 subspaces in $\mathbb{CP}^{\ell-1}$, from which \mathcal{A} can be reconstructed via a coning construction.

The combinatorics of the arrangement is encoded in its *intersection lattice*, L(A). This is the poset of all intersections of hyperplanes in A (also known as *flats*), ordered by reverse inclusion, and ranked by codimension. The join of two flats $X, Y \in L(A)$ is given by $X \lor Y = X \cap Y$, while the meet is given by $X \land Y = \bigcap \{Z \in L(A) \mid X + Y \subseteq Z\}$. Given a flat X, we will denote by A_X the subarrangement $\{H \in A \mid H \supset X\}$.

We may view \mathcal{A} as a simple matroid, whose points correspond to the hyperplanes in \mathcal{A} , with dependent subsets given by linear algebra, in terms of the defining equations of the hyperplanes. In this way, the lattice of flats of the underlying matroid is identified with $L(\mathcal{A})$. Under this dictionary, the two notions of rank coincide.

A matroid \mathscr{M} is said to be *realizable* (over \mathbb{C}) if there is an arrangement \mathcal{A} such that $L(\mathscr{M}) = L(\mathcal{A})$. The simplest situation is when \mathscr{M} has rank 2, in which case \mathscr{M} can always be realized by a pencil of lines through the origin of \mathbb{C}^2 .

For most of our purposes here, it will be enough to assume that the arrangement \mathcal{A} lives in \mathbb{C}^3 , in which case $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$ is an arrangement of (projective) lines in \mathbb{CP}^2 . This is clear when the rank of \mathcal{A} is at most 2, and may be achieved otherwise by taking a generic 3-slice. This operation does not change the poset $L_{\leq 2}(\mathcal{A})$, or derived invariants such as $\beta_p(\mathcal{A})$, nor does it change the monodromy action on $H_1(F(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{C})$.

11



FIGURE 1. A (3, 2)-net on the A₃ arrangement, and on the corresponding matroid

For a rank-3 arrangement, the set $L_1(\mathcal{A})$ is in 1-to-1 correspondence with the lines of \overline{A} , while $L_2(A)$ is in 1-to-1 correspondence with the intersection points of \overline{A} . The poset structure of $L_{\leq 2}(\mathcal{A})$ corresponds then to the incidence structure of the point-line configuration $\bar{\mathcal{A}}$. This correspondence is illustrated in Figure 1. We will say that a flat $X \in L_2(\mathcal{A})$ has multiplicity q if $|\mathcal{A}_X| = q$, or, equivalently, if the point \bar{X} has exactly q lines from $\bar{\mathcal{A}}$ passing through it.

2.3. Multinets on matroids. Guided by the work of Falk and Yuzvinsky [27], we define the following structure on a matroid \mathcal{M} —in fact, on the poset $L_{\leq 2}(\mathcal{M})$.

A multinet on \mathcal{M} is a partition into $k \ge 3$ subsets $\mathcal{M}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{M}_k$, together with an assignment of multiplicities, $m: \mathscr{M} \to \mathbb{N}$, and a subset $\mathcal{X} \subseteq L_2(\mathscr{M})$ with |X| > 2 for each $X \in \mathcal{X}$, called the base locus, such that:

- (1) There is an integer *d* such that ∑_{u∈Mα} m_u = *d*, for all α ∈ [k].
 (2) For any two points u, v ∈ M in different classes, the flat spanned by {u, v} belongs to \mathcal{X} .
- (3) For each $X \in \mathcal{X}$, the integer $n_X := \sum_{u \in \mathcal{M}_\alpha \cap X} m_u$ is independent of α . (4) For each $1 \leq \alpha \leq k$ and $u, v \in \mathcal{M}_\alpha$, there is a sequence $u = u_0, \ldots, u_r = v$ such that $u_{i-1} \lor u_i \notin \mathcal{X}$ for $1 \leq i \leq r$.

We say that a multinet \mathcal{N} as above has k classes and weight d, and refer to it as a (k, d)-multinet, or simply as a k-multinet. Without essential loss of generality, we may assume that $gcd\{m_u\}_{u \in \mathcal{M}} = 1$.

If all the multiplicities are equal to 1, the multinet is said to be *reduced*. If $n_X = 1$, for all $X \in \mathcal{X}$, the multinet is called a (k, d)-net; in this case, the multinet is reduced, and every flat in the base locus contains precisely one element from each class. A (k, d)-net \mathcal{N} is *non-trivial* if d > 1, or, equivalently, if the matroid \mathcal{M} has rank at least 3.

The symmetric group Σ_k acts freely on the set of (k, d)-multinets on \mathcal{M} , by permuting the k classes. Note that the Σ_k -action on k-multinets preserves reduced k-multinets as well as *k*-nets.



FIGURE 2. A (3, 4)-multinet



FIGURE 3. A reduced (3, 4)-multinet, but not a 3-net

We will say that an arrangement \mathcal{A} admits a multinet if the matroid realized by \mathcal{A} does. The various possibilities are illustrated in the above figures. Figure 1 shows a (3, 2)-net on a planar slice of the reflection arrangement of type A₃. Figure 2 shows a non-reduced (3, 4)-multinet on a planar slice of the reflection arrangement of type B₃. Finally, Figure 3 shows a simplicial arrangement of 12 lines in \mathbb{CP}^2 supporting a reduced (3, 4)-multinet which is not a 3-net. For more examples, we refer to [27, 57, 58].

2.4. **Reduced multinets and nets.** Let \mathcal{N} be a multinet on a matroid \mathcal{M} , with associated classes $\{\mathcal{M}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{M}_k\}$. For each flat $X \in L_2(\mathcal{M})$, let us write

(9)
$$\operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{N}}(X) = \{ \alpha \in [k] \mid \mathscr{M}_{\alpha} \cap X \neq \emptyset \}.$$

Evidently, $|\operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{N}}(X)| \leq |X|$. Notice also that $|\operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{N}}(X)|$ is either 1 (in which case we say X is mono-colored), or k (in which case we say X is multi-colored). Here is an elementary lemma.

Lemma 2.1. Suppose a matroid \mathcal{M} has no 2-flats of multiplicity kr, for any r > 1. Then every reduced k-multinet on \mathcal{M} is a k-net.

Proof. Let X be a flat in the base locus of a k-multinet \mathcal{N} ; then $|\operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{N}}(X)| = k$. If the multinet is reduced, we have that $|X| = kn_X$. Since, by assumption, $L_2(\mathcal{M})$ has no flats of multiplicity kr, with r > 1, we must have $n_X = 1$. Thus, the multinet is a net. \Box

In the case when k = 3, Lemma 2.1 proves implication (i) \Rightarrow (ii) from Theorem 1.6. (The implication (ii) \Rightarrow (i) from that theorem is of course trivial.)

Work of Yuzvinsky [58, 59] and Pereira–Yuzvinsky [50] shows that, if \mathcal{N} is a *k*-multinet on a realizable matroid, with base locus of size greater than 1, then k = 3 or 4; furthermore, if \mathcal{N} is not reduced, then *k* must equal 3.

Work of Kawahara from [33, §3] shows that nets on matroids abound. In particular, this work shows that, for any $k \ge 3$, there is a simple matroid \mathcal{M} supporting a non-trivial *k*-net. By the above, if \mathcal{M} is realizable, then *k* can only be equal to 3 or 4.

Let us look in more detail at the structure of nets on matroids. First recall the following well-known definition. Given a matroid \mathcal{M} and a subset $S \subseteq \mathcal{M}$, we say that S is *line-closed* (in \mathcal{M}) if X is closed in \mathcal{M} , for all $X \in L_2(S)$. Clearly, this property is stable under intersection.

Lemma 2.2. Assume a matroid \mathcal{M} supports a k-net with parts \mathcal{M}_{α} . Then:

- (1) Each submatroid \mathcal{M}_{α} has the same cardinality, equal to $d := |\mathcal{M}|/k$.
- (2) Each submatroid \mathcal{M}_{α} is line-closed in \mathcal{M} .

Proof. Part (1) follows from the definitions. To prove (2), let X be a flat in $L_2(\mathcal{M}_{\alpha})$, and suppose there is a point $u \in (\mathcal{M} \setminus \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}) \cap \overline{X}$, where \overline{X} denotes the closure in \mathcal{M} . Since $X \in L_2(\mathcal{M}_{\alpha})$, there exist distinct points $v, w \in \mathcal{M}_{\alpha} \cap X$. Since also $u \in \overline{X}$, the flat \overline{X} must belong to the base locus. On the other hand, \overline{X} contains a single point from \mathcal{M}_{α} . This is a contradiction, and we are done.

2.5. Nets and Latin squares. The next lemma provides an alternative definition of nets. The lemma, which was motivated by [58, Definition 1.1] in the realizable case, will prove to be useful in the sequel.

Lemma 2.3. A k-net \mathcal{N} on a matroid \mathcal{M} is a partition with non-empty blocks, $\mathcal{M} = \prod_{\alpha \in [k]} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}$, with the property that, for every $u \in \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}$ and $v \in \mathcal{M}_{\beta}$ with $\alpha \neq \beta$ and every $\gamma \in [k]$,

$$(10) \qquad \qquad |(u \lor v) \cap \mathscr{M}_{\gamma}| = 1.$$

Proof. Plainly, the net axioms (2) and (3) from §2.3 imply the following dichotomy, for an arbitrary flat $X \in L_2(\mathcal{M})$: either X is mono-colored, or X belongs to the base locus \mathcal{X} and $|X| = |\operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{N}}(X)| = k > 2$. Hence, we may replace \mathcal{X} by the subset of multicolored, rank-2 flats, i.e., the set of flats of the form $u \lor v$, where $u \in \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, v \in \mathcal{M}_{\beta}$, and $\alpha \neq \beta$. In this way, axiom (2) may be eliminated, and axiom (3) reduces to property (10). In turn, this property clearly implies axiom (4), by taking r = 1, $u_0 = u$, and $u_1 = v$.

In order to complete the proof, we are left with showing that property (10) implies axiom (1). To this end, let us fix $v \in \mathcal{M}_{\gamma}$, and define for each $\alpha \neq \gamma$ a function

(11)
$$f_{\nu} \colon \mathscr{M}_{\alpha} \to \{ X \in \mathcal{X} \mid \nu \in X \}$$

by setting $f_{\nu}(u) = u \lor v$. By property (10), the function f_{ν} is a bijection. Finally, given $\alpha \neq \beta$ in [k], pick a third element $\gamma \in [k]$ and a point $\nu \in \mathcal{M}_{\gamma}$ to infer that $|\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}| = |\mathcal{M}_{\beta}|$. This verifies axiom (1), and we are done.

A *Latin square* of size d is a matrix corresponding to the multiplication table of a quasi-group of order d; that is to say, a $d \times d$ matrix Λ , with each row and column a permutation of the set $[d] = \{1, \ldots, d\}$.

In the sequel, we will make extensive use of 3-nets. In view of Lemma 2.3, a 3-net on a matroid \mathcal{M} is a partition into three non-empty subsets $\mathcal{M}_1, \mathcal{M}_2, \mathcal{M}_3$ with the property that, for each pair of points $u, v \in \mathcal{M}$ in different classes, we have $u \lor v = \{u, v, w\}$, for some point w in the third class.

Three-nets are intimately related to Latin squares. If \mathscr{M} admits a (3, d)-net with parts $\mathscr{M}_1, \mathscr{M}_2, \mathscr{M}_3$, then the multi-colored 2-flats define a Latin square Λ : if we label the points of \mathscr{M}_{α} as $u_1^{\alpha}, \ldots, u_d^{\alpha}$, then the (p, q)-entry of this matrix is the integer r given by the condition that $\{u_p^1, u_q^2, u_r^3\} \in L_2(\mathscr{M})$. A similar procedure shows that a k-net is encoded by a (k-2)-tuple of orthogonal Latin squares.

The realizability of 3-nets by line arrangements in \mathbb{CP}^2 has been studied by several authors, including Yuzvinsky [58], Urzúa [55], and Dimca, Ibadula, and Măcinic [18].

Example 2.4. Particularly simple is the following construction, due to Kawahara [33]: given any Latin square, there is a matroid with a 3-net realizing it, such that each submatroid obtained by restricting to the parts of the 3-net is a uniform matroid.

In turn, some of these matroids may be realized by line arrangements in \mathbb{CP}^2 . For instance, suppose Λ is the multiplication table of one of the groups \mathbb{Z}_2 , \mathbb{Z}_3 , \mathbb{Z}_4 , or $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$. Then the corresponding realization is the braid arrangement, the Pappus $(9_3)_1$ configuration, the Kirkman configuration, and the Steiner configuration, respectively.

In general, though, there are many other realizations of Latin squares. For example, the group \mathbb{Z}_3 admits two more realizations, see [18, Theorem 2.2] and Examples 3.8, 3.9.

3. MODULAR AOMOTO–BETTI NUMBERS AND RESONANCE VARIETIES

We now study two inter-related matroidal invariants: the Aomoto–Betti numbers β_p and the resonance varieties in characteristic p > 0. In the process, we explore some of the constraints imposed on the β_p -invariants by the existence of nets on the matroid.

3.1. The Orlik–Solomon algebra. As before, let \mathcal{A} be an arrangement of hyperplanes in \mathbb{C}^{ℓ} . The main topological invariant associated to such an arrangement is its complement, $M(\mathcal{A}) = \mathbb{C}^{\ell} \setminus \bigcup_{H \in \mathcal{A}} H$. This is a smooth, quasi-projective variety, with the homotopy type of a connected, finite CW-complex of dimension ℓ .

Building on work of Brieskorn, Orlik and Solomon described in [46] the cohomology ring $A(\mathcal{A}) = H^*(M(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{Z})$ as the quotient of the exterior algebra on degree-one classes dual to the meridians around the hyperplanes of \mathcal{A} , modulo a certain ideal determined by the intersection lattice.

Based on this combinatorial description, one may associate an Orlik–Solomon algebra $A(\mathcal{M})$ to any (simple) matroid \mathcal{M} , as follows. Let $E = \bigwedge(\mathcal{M})$ be the exterior algebra on degree 1 elements e_u corresponding to the points of the matroid, and define a graded derivation $\partial: E \to E$ of degree -1 by setting $\partial(1) = 0$ and $\partial(e_u) = 1$, for all $u \in \mathcal{M}$. Then

(12)
$$A(\mathcal{M}) = E/\text{ideal } \{\partial(e_S) \mid S \text{ a circuit in } \mathcal{M}\},\$$

where $e_S = \prod_{u \in S} e_u$. As is well-known, this graded ring is torsion-free, and the ranks of its graded pieces are determined by the Möbius function of the matroid. In particular, $A^1(\mathcal{M}) = \mathbb{Z}^{\mathcal{M}}$ (this is one instance where the simplicity assumption on \mathcal{M} is needed).

This construction enjoys the following naturality property: if $\mathcal{M}' \subseteq \mathcal{M}$ is a submatroid, then the canonical embedding $\bigwedge(\mathcal{M}') \hookrightarrow \bigwedge(\mathcal{M})$ induces a monomorphism of graded rings, $A(\mathcal{M}') \hookrightarrow A(\mathcal{M})$.

3.2. **Resonance varieties.** Let *A* be a graded, graded-commutative algebra over a commutative Noetherian ring k. We will assume that each graded piece A^q is free and finitely generated over k, and $A^0 = k$. Furthermore, we will assume that $a^2 = 0$, for all $a \in A^1$, a condition which is automatically satisfied if k is a field with char(k) $\neq 2$, by the graded-commutativity of multiplication in *A*.

For each element $a \in A^1$, we turn the algebra A into a cochain complex,

(13)
$$(A, \delta_a): A^0 \xrightarrow{\delta_a} A^1 \xrightarrow{\delta_a} A^2 \xrightarrow{} \cdots,$$

using as differentials the maps $\delta_a(b) = ab$. For a finitely generated k-module *H*, we denote by rank_k *H* the minimal number of k-generators for *H*. The (degree *q*, depth *r*) *resonance varieties* of *A* are then defined as the jump loci for the cohomology of this complex,

(14)
$$\mathscr{R}^{q}_{r}(A) = \{ a \in A^{1} \mid \operatorname{rank}_{\Bbbk} H^{q}(A, \delta_{a}) \ge r \}.$$

When k is a field, it is readily seen that these sets are Zariski-closed, homogeneous subsets of the affine space A^1 .

For our purposes here, we will only consider the degree 1 resonance varieties, $\mathscr{R}_r(A) = \mathscr{R}_r^1(A)$. Clearly, these varieties depend only on the degree 2 truncation of *A*, denoted $A^{\leq 2}$. Over a field \Bbbk , $\mathscr{R}_r(A)$ consists of 0, together with all elements $a \in A^1$ for which there exist $b_1, \ldots, b_r \in A^1$ such that dim_k span $\{a, b_1, \ldots, b_r\} = r + 1$ and $ab_i = 0$ in A^2 .

The degree 1 resonance varieties over a field enjoy the following naturality property: if $\varphi: A \to A'$ is a morphism of commutative graded algebras, and φ is injective in degree 1, then φ^1 embeds $\mathscr{R}_r(A)$ into $\mathscr{R}_r(A')$, for each $r \ge 1$.

3.3. The Aomoto–Betti numbers. Consider now the algebra $A = A(\mathcal{M}) \otimes \mathbb{k}$, i.e., the Orlik–Solomon algebra of the matroid \mathcal{M} with coefficients in a commutative Noetherian ring \mathbb{k} . Since A is a quotient of an exterior algebra, we have that $a^2 = 0$ for all $a \in A^1$. Thus, we may define the resonance varieties of the matroid \mathcal{M} as

(15)
$$\mathscr{R}_{r}(\mathscr{M}, \Bbbk) := \mathscr{R}_{r}(A(\mathscr{M}) \otimes \Bbbk).$$

If the coefficient ring is a field, these varieties essentially depend only on the characteristic of the field. Indeed, if $\Bbbk \subset \mathbb{K}$ is a field extension, then $\mathscr{R}_r(\mathscr{M}, \Bbbk) = \mathscr{R}_r(\mathscr{M}, \mathbb{K}) \cap \Bbbk^{\mathscr{M}}$. The resonance varieties of a realizable matroid were first defined and studied by Falk [24] for $\Bbbk = \mathbb{C}$, by Matei and Suciu [44] for arbitrary fields, and then by Falk [25, 26] in the general case. A complete description of the resonance varieties $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathscr{M}, \mathbb{C})$ for a (not necessarily realizable) simple matroid \mathscr{M} were given by Marco Buzunáriz in [43].

Over an arbitrary Noetherian ring k, the k-module $A^1 = k^{\mathcal{M}}$ comes endowed with a preferred basis, which we will also write as $\{e_u\}_{u \in \mathcal{M}}$. Consider the "diagonal" element

(16)
$$\sigma = \sum_{u \in \mathcal{M}} e_u \in A^1,$$

and define the *cocycle space* of the matroid (with respect to σ) to be

(17)
$$Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}) = \{\tau \in A^1 \mid \sigma \cup \tau = 0\}.$$

Over a field, the dimension of $Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M})$ depends only on the characteristic of \Bbbk , and not on \Bbbk itself. The following lemma gives a convenient system of linear equations for the cocycle space $Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M})$, in general.

Lemma 3.1. Let \mathscr{M} be a matroid, and let \Bbbk be a commutative Noetherian ring. A vector $\tau = \sum_{u \in \mathscr{M}} \tau_u e_u \in \Bbbk^{\mathscr{M}}$ belongs to $Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M})$ if and only if, for each flat $X \in L_2(\mathscr{M})$ and $v \in X$, the following equation holds:

(18)
$$\sum_{u\in X}\tau_u=|X|\cdot\tau_v$$

Furthermore, if k is a field of characteristic p > 0, the above equations are equivalent to the system

(19)
$$\begin{cases} \sum_{u \in X} \tau_u = 0 & \text{if } p \mid |X|, \\ \tau_u = \tau_v, \text{ for all } u, v \in X & \text{if } p \nmid |X|. \end{cases}$$

Proof. The first assertion follows from [25, Theorem 3.5], while the second assertion is a direct consequence of the first one. \Box

Note that $\sigma \in Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M})$. Define the *coboundary space* of the matroid to be the submodule $B_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M}) \subseteq Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M})$ spanned by σ . Clearly, a vector τ as above belongs to $B_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M})$ if and only if all its components τ_u are equal. Let us define the *Aomoto–Betti number* over \Bbbk of the matroid \mathcal{M} as

(20)
$$\beta_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}) := \operatorname{rank}_{\Bbbk} Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}) / B_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}).$$

Clearly, $\beta_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M}) = 0$ if and only if $Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M}) = B_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M})$. If \Bbbk is a field of positive characteristic, the Aomoto–Betti number of \mathcal{M} depends only on $p = \operatorname{char} \Bbbk$, and so we will write it simply as $\beta_p(\mathcal{M})$. We then have

(21)
$$\beta_p(\mathscr{M}) = \dim_{\Bbbk} Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}) - 1.$$

Note that $Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M})/B_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M}) = H^1(A(\mathcal{M}) \otimes \Bbbk, \delta_{\sigma})$. Thus, the above mod-*p* matroid invariant may be reinterpreted as

(22)
$$\beta_p(\mathscr{M}) = \max\{r \mid \sigma \in \mathscr{R}_r(\mathscr{M}, \Bbbk)\}.$$

3.4. **Constraints on the Aomoto–Betti numbers.** We now use Lemma 3.1 to derive useful information on the matroidal invariants defined above. We start with a vanishing criterion, which is an immediate consequence of that lemma.

Corollary 3.2. If $p \nmid |X|$, for any $X \in L_2(\mathcal{M})$ with |X| > 2, then $\beta_p(\mathcal{M}) = 0$.

For instance, if \mathscr{M} is a rank 3 uniform matroid, then $\beta_p(\mathscr{M}) = 0$, for all p. At the other extreme, if all the points of \mathscr{M} are collinear, and p divides $|\mathscr{M}|$, then $\beta_p(\mathscr{M}) = |\mathscr{M}| - 2$.

The next application provides constraints on the Aomoto–Betti numbers in the presence of nets.

Proposition 3.3. Assume that \mathcal{M} supports a k-net. Then $\beta_p(\mathcal{M}) = 0$ if $p \nmid k$, and $\beta_p(\mathcal{M}) \ge k - 2$, otherwise.

Proof. Set $\mathbb{k} = \mathbb{F}_p$. First suppose that $p \nmid k$. Let $\tau \in Z_{\mathbb{k}}(\mathcal{M})$. Pick $u, v \in \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}$, and then $w \in \mathcal{M}_{\beta}$, with $\beta \neq \alpha$. Since $|u \lor w| = |v \lor w| = k$, by the net property, we infer from Lemma 3.1 that $\tau_u = \tau_w = \tau_v$. Hence, τ is constant on each part \mathcal{M}_{α} . Applying once again Lemma 3.1 to a multi-colored flat, we deduce that $\tau \in B_{\mathbb{k}}(\mathcal{M})$.

Now suppose $p \mid k$, and consider the k-dimensional subspace of $\mathbb{K}^{\mathscr{M}}$ consisting of those elements τ that are constant (say, equal to c_{α}) on each \mathscr{M}_{α} . By Lemma 3.1 and the net property, the subspace of $\mathbb{K}^{\mathscr{M}}$ given by the equation $\sum_{\alpha \in [k]} c_{\alpha} = 0$ is contained in $Z_{\mathbb{K}}(\mathscr{M})$. Thus, $\dim_{\mathbb{K}} Z_{\mathbb{K}}(\mathscr{M}) \ge k - 1$, and the desired inequality follows at once. \Box

Finally, let us record a construction which relates the cocycle space of a matroid to the cocycle spaces of the parts of a net supported by the matroid.

Lemma 3.4. Let \Bbbk be a field. Suppose a matroid \mathscr{M} supports a net. For each part \mathscr{M}_{α} , the natural projection $\Bbbk^{\mathscr{M}} \to \Bbbk^{\mathscr{M}_{\alpha}}$ restricts to a homomorphism $h_{\alpha} \colon Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}) \to Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}_{\alpha})$, which in turn induces a homomorphism $\bar{h}_{\alpha} \colon Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M})/B_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}) \to Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}_{\alpha})/B_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}_{\alpha})$.

Proof. In view of Lemmas 2.2(2) and 3.1, the equations defining $Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M}_{\alpha})$ form a subset of the set of equations defining $Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M})$. Thus, the projection $\Bbbk^{\mathcal{M}} \to \Bbbk^{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}$ restricts to a homomorphism $Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M}) \to Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M}_{\alpha})$. Clearly, this homomorphism takes σ to σ_{α} , and the second assertion follows.

3.5. More on 3-nets and the β_3 numbers. In the case when the net has 3 parts and the ground field has 3 elements, the previous lemma can be made be more precise.

Proposition 3.5. Let \mathcal{N} be a 3-net on a matroid \mathcal{M} , and let $\mathbb{k} = \mathbb{F}_3$. For each part \mathcal{M}_{α} , we have an exact sequence of \mathbb{k} -vector spaces,

(23)
$$0 \longrightarrow \Bbbk \longrightarrow Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M})/B_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}) \xrightarrow{\bar{h}_{\alpha}} Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}_{\alpha})/B_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}_{\alpha}) .$$

Proof. Let $\tau_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{k}^{\mathscr{M}}$ be the vector whose components are equal to 0 on \mathscr{M}_{α} , and are equal to 1, respectively -1 on the other two parts of the net. It follows from Lemmas 2.2(2) and 3.1 that $\tau_{\alpha} \in Z_{\mathbb{k}}(\mathscr{M})$. Clearly, $\tau_{\alpha} \in \ker(h_{\alpha})$. In fact, as we shall see next, τ_{α} generates the kernel of h_{α} .



FIGURE 4. A (3, 3)-net on the Ceva matroid



FIGURE 5. A (4, 3)-net on the Hessian matroid

Suppose $h_{\alpha}(\eta) = 0$, for some $\eta \in Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M})$. We first claim that η must be constant on the other two parts, \mathcal{M}_{β} and \mathcal{M}_{γ} . To verify this claim, fix a point $u \in \mathcal{M}_{\gamma}$ and pick $v, w \in \mathcal{M}_{\beta}$. By the net property and (19), $\eta_u + \eta_v + \eta_{v'} = 0$ and $\eta_u + \eta_w + \eta_{w'} = 0$, for some $v', w' \in \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}$. But $\eta_{v'} = \eta_{w'} = 0$, by assumption. Hence, $\eta_v = \eta_w$, and our claim follows.

Writing now condition (19) for η on a multi-colored flat of \mathcal{N} , we conclude that $\eta \in \mathbb{k} \cdot \tau_{\alpha}$. It follows that sequence (23) is exact in the middle. Exactness at \mathbb{k} is obvious, and so we are done.

Corollary 3.6. If a matroid \mathcal{M} supports a 3-net with parts \mathcal{M}_{α} , then $1 \leq \beta_3(\mathcal{M}) \leq \beta_3(\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}) + 1$, for all α .

If $\beta_3(\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}) = 0$, for some α , then $\beta_3(\mathcal{M}) = 1$, while if $\beta_3(\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}) = 1$, for some α , then $\beta_3(\mathcal{M}) = 1$ or 2. Furthermore, as the next batch of examples shows, all three possibilities do occur, even among realizable matroids.

Example 3.7. First, let \mathcal{A} be the braid arrangement from Figure 1. Then \mathcal{A} admits a (3, 2)-net with all parts \mathcal{A}_{α} in general position. Hence, $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}) = 0$ for each α , and thus $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}) = 1$.

Example 3.8. Next, let \mathcal{A} be the realization of the configuration described by the Pappus hexagon theorem. As noted in [18, Example 2.3], \mathcal{A} admits a (3, 3)-net with two parts in general position and one not. Hence, $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}_1) = \beta_3(\mathcal{A}_2) = 0$ while $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}_3) = 1$. Therefore, $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}) = 1$.

Example 3.9. Finally, let \mathcal{A} be the Ceva arrangement, defined by the polynomial $Q = (z_1^3 - z_2^3)(z_1^3 - z_3^3)(z_2^3 - z_3^3)$. As can be seen in Figure 4, this arrangement admits a (3, 3)-net with no parts in general position. Hence, $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}_\alpha) = 1$ for each α . Moreover, $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}) = 2$, by direct computation, or by Proposition 9.4 below. The classification results from [18]

and the above considerations imply that the only rank 3 arrangement A of at most 9 planes that supports a 3-net and has $\beta_3(A) \ge 2$ is the Ceva arrangement.

4. FROM MODULAR RESONANCE TO NETS

In this section, we construct suitable parameter sets for nets on matroids, and relate these parameter sets to modular resonance. The approach we take leads to a proof of Theorem 1.3 and the combinatorial parts of Theorems 1.6 and 1.7 from the Introduction.

4.1. A parameter set for nets on a matroid. As before, let \mathcal{M} be a simple matroid. Generalizing the previous setup, let \Bbbk be a finite set of size $k \ge 3$. Inside the set $\Bbbk^{\mathcal{M}}$ of all functions $\tau \colon \mathcal{M} \to \Bbbk$, we isolate two subsets.

The first subset, $Z'_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M})$, consists of all functions τ with the property that, for every $X \in L_2(\mathcal{M})$, the restriction $\tau: X \to \Bbbk$ is either constant or bijective. The second subset, $B_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M})$, consists of all constant functions. Plainly, $B_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M}) \subseteq Z'_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M})$. In view of Lemma 4.5 below, we will call the elements of $Z'_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M})$ special \Bbbk -cocycles.

Now define a function

(24)
$$\lambda_{\Bbbk} \colon \{k \text{-nets on } \mathcal{M}\} \longrightarrow \Bbbk^{\mathcal{M}},$$

by associating to a *k*-net \mathcal{N} , with partition $\mathcal{M} = \prod_{\alpha \in \Bbbk} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}$, the element $\tau := \lambda_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{N})$ which takes the value α on \mathcal{M}_{α} .

Lemma 4.1. The above construction induces a bijection,

$$\lambda_{\Bbbk} \colon \{k \text{-nets on } \mathcal{M}\} \xrightarrow{\simeq} Z'_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M}) \setminus B_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M})$$

Proof. Plainly, λ_{\Bbbk} is injective, with image disjoint from $B_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M})$. To show that $\lambda_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{N})$ belongs to $Z'_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M})$, for any *k*-net \mathcal{N} , pick $X \in L_2(\mathcal{M})$. If the flat X is mono-colored with respect to \mathcal{N} , the restriction $\tau: X \to \Bbbk$ is constant, by construction. If X is multi-colored, this restriction is a bijection, according to Lemma 2.3, and we are done.

Finally, let τ be an element in $Z'_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M}) \setminus B_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M})$. Define a partition $\mathcal{M} = \prod_{\alpha \in \Bbbk} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}$ by setting $\mathcal{M}_{\alpha} = \{u \in \mathcal{M} \mid \tau_u = \alpha\}$. Since τ is non-constant on \mathcal{M} , there must be a flat $X \in L_2(\mathcal{M})$ with $\tau: X \to \Bbbk$ bijective, which shows that all blocks of the partition are non-empty. For $u \in \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}$ and $v \in \mathcal{M}_{\beta}$ with $\alpha \neq \beta$, we infer that $\tau: u \lor v \to \Bbbk$ must be bijective, since $\tau \in Z'_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M})$. It follows from Lemma 2.3 that the partition defines a *k*-net \mathcal{N} on \mathcal{M} . By construction, $\lambda_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{N}) = \tau$, and this completes the proof.

Corollary 4.2. If $|\mathbf{k}| > 4$, then $Z'_{\mathbf{k}}(\mathcal{M}) = B_{\mathbf{k}}(\mathcal{M})$, for any realizable matroid of rank at *least* 3.

4.2. Sums in finite abelian groups. Before proceeding with our main theme, let us consider a purely algebraic general situation. Given a finite abelian group k, define

(25)
$$\Sigma(\Bbbk) = \sum_{\alpha \in \Bbbk} \alpha$$

to be the sum of the elements of the group. The following formula is then easily checked:

(26)
$$\Sigma(\Bbbk \times \Bbbk') = (|\Bbbk'| \cdot \Sigma(\Bbbk), |\Bbbk| \cdot \Sigma(\Bbbk'))$$

Clearly, $2\Sigma(\Bbbk) = 0$. Moreover, if \Bbbk is cyclic, then $\Sigma(\Bbbk) = 0$ if and only if the order of \Bbbk is odd. These observations readily imply the following elementary lemma.

Lemma 4.3. Let $\mathbb{k} = \prod_{p \text{ prime}} \prod_{s \ge 1} (\mathbb{Z}/p^s \mathbb{Z})^{e(p,s)}$ be the primary decomposition of \mathbb{k} . Then $\Sigma(\mathbb{k}) = 0$ if and only if $\sum_s e(2, s) \ne 1$.

Next, we examine the conditions under which $\Sigma(\Bbbk)$ vanishes when the group \Bbbk is, in fact, a (finite) commutative ring.

Lemma 4.4. Let k be a positive integer. There is a finite commutative ring \Bbbk with k elements and satisfying $\Sigma(\Bbbk) = 0$ if and only if $k \neq 2 \mod 4$. Moreover, if $2 \neq k = p^s$, we may take $\Bbbk = \mathbb{F}_{p^s}$.

Proof. Let $k = \prod_p p^{v_p(k)}$ be the prime decomposition. If $|\mathbf{k}| = k$, then $\sum_s se(2, s) = v_2(k)$, and $k \equiv 2 \mod 4$ if and only if $v_2(k) = 1$. If $v_2(k) \neq 1$, we may take $\mathbf{k} = \prod_p \mathbb{F}_p^{v_p(k)}$, and infer from Lemma 4.3 that $\Sigma(\mathbf{k}) = 0$. If $v_2(k) = 1$ and $|\mathbf{k}| = k$, then clearly $\sum_s e(2, s) = 1$. Again by Lemma 4.3, this implies that $\Sigma(\mathbf{k}) \neq 0$. For the last claim, note that $\mathbb{F}_{p^s} = \mathbb{F}_p^s$, as an additive group.

4.3. Modular resonance and multinets. For the rest of this section, we will assume \Bbbk is a finite commutative ring. In this case, $B_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M})$ coincides with the coboundary space defined in §3.3. The next lemma establishes a relationship between the subset $Z'_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}) \subseteq \Bbbk^{\mathscr{M}}$ and the modular cocycle space $Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M})$.

Lemma 4.5. Let \mathscr{M} be a matroid and let \Bbbk be a finite commutative ring. If $\Sigma(\Bbbk) = 0$, then $Z'_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}) \subseteq Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M})$. Otherwise, $Z'_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}) \cap Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}) = B_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M})$.

Proof. For $\tau \in Z'_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M})$ and $X \in L_2(\mathcal{M})$ with $\tau \equiv \alpha$ on X, equations (18) reduce to $|X| \cdot \alpha = |X| \cdot \alpha$. When $\tau \colon X \to \Bbbk$ is a bijection, these equations take the form $\Sigma(\Bbbk) = |\Bbbk| \cdot \alpha$, for every $\alpha \in \Bbbk$, or, equivalently, $\Sigma(\Bbbk) = 0$. The desired conclusions follow.

Lemmas 4.1, 4.4, and 4.5 together prove Theorem 1.3 from the Introduction. In turn, Theorem 1.3 applied to the case when $\mathbb{k} = \mathbb{F}_4$ proves the combinatorial part of Theorem 1.7, i.e., the equivalence (i) \Leftrightarrow (ii) from there.

Remark 4.6. When \mathscr{M} supports a 4-net, the inclusion $Z'_{\mathbb{F}_4}(\mathscr{M}) \subseteq Z_{\mathbb{F}_4}(\mathscr{M})$ from Theorem 1.3(ii) is always strict. Indeed, let $\mathscr{M} = \coprod_{\alpha \in [4]} \mathscr{M}_{\alpha}$ be a 4-net partition. Define $\tau \in \mathbb{F}_4^{\mathscr{M}} = (\mathbb{F}_2 \times \mathbb{F}_2)^{\mathscr{M}}$ to be equal to (0,0) on \mathscr{M}_1 and \mathscr{M}_2 , and to (1,0) on \mathscr{M}_3 and \mathscr{M}_4 . Using (19), we easily see that $\tau \in Z_{\mathbb{F}_4}(\mathscr{M}) \setminus Z'_{\mathbb{F}_4}(\mathscr{M})$.

In the case of 3-nets, this phenomenon no longer occurs. For instance, if \mathcal{A} is the Ceva arrangement from Example 3.9, then \mathcal{A} admits a 3-net, while $Z'_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{A}) = Z_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{A})$, by Lemma 4.8.

Next, we provide an extension of Lemma 4.1, from nets to multinets.

Lemma 4.7. Let \Bbbk be a finite commutative ring with $\Sigma(\Bbbk) = 0$. Then the function $\lambda_{\Bbbk}: \{k\text{-nets on } \mathcal{M}\} \hookrightarrow Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M}) \setminus B_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M})$ has an injective extension,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\Bbbk}$$
: {reduced k-multinets on \mathcal{M} } $\hookrightarrow Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M}) \setminus B_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{M})$.

Proof. Let \mathcal{N} be a reduced *k*-multinet on \mathscr{M} . Define $\lambda_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{N}) \in \Bbbk^{\mathscr{M}}$ by using the underlying partition, $\mathscr{M} = \coprod_{\alpha \in \Bbbk} \mathscr{M}_{\alpha}$, exactly as in (24). Clearly, $\lambda_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{N})$ determines \mathcal{N} . By the multinet axiom §2.3(3), the map $\lambda_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{N}) : \mathscr{M} \to \Bbbk$ is surjective; hence $\lambda_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{N}) \notin B_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M})$.

Now, if $X \in L_2(\mathcal{M})$ is mono-colored, i.e., $X \subseteq \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}$ for some $\alpha \in \mathbb{k}$, then the system of equations (18) reduces to $|X| \cdot \alpha = |X| \cdot \alpha$, which is trivially satisfied. Otherwise, those equations take the form

$$\sum_{lpha \in \Bbbk} |X \cap \mathscr{M}_lpha| \cdot lpha = |X| \cdot eta,$$

for all $\beta \in \mathbb{k}$, or, equivalently, $n_X \cdot \Sigma(\mathbb{k}) = 0$ and |X| = 0, and we are done.

4.4. A multiplicity assumption. Finally, let us consider the case when k = 3 (and $k = \mathbb{F}_3$) in Theorem 1.3. Under a natural multiplicity assumption, we are then able to say more about the cocycle space of our matroid \mathcal{M} .

Lemma 4.8. Suppose $L_2(\mathcal{M})$ has no flats of multiplicity properly divisible by 3. Then $Z'_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{M}) = Z_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{M}).$

Proof. By (19), an element $\tau = \sum_{u \in \mathcal{M}} \tau_u e_u \in \mathbb{F}_3^{\mathcal{M}}$ belongs to $Z_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{M})$ if and only if, for each $X \in L_2(\mathcal{M})$, either 3 divides |X| and $\sum_{u \in X} \tau_u = 0$, or else τ is constant on X.

In view of our multiplicity hypothesis, the first possibility only occurs when X has size 3, in which case the equation $\sum_{u \in X} \tau_u = 0$ implies that the restriction $\tau \colon X \to \mathbb{F}_3$ is either constant or bijective. Hence, the element τ belongs to $Z'_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{M})$, and we are done. \Box

Putting now together Theorem 1.3(i) with Lemma 4.8 establishes equivalence (ii) \Leftrightarrow (iii) from Theorem 1.6 in the Introduction. The remaining combinatorial part of Theorem 1.6, i.e., equivalence (i) \Leftrightarrow (ii), follows from Lemma 2.1.

5. FLAT CONNECTIONS AND HOLONOMY LIE ALGEBRAS

In this section, we study the space of g-valued flat connections on the Orlik–Solomon algebra of a simple matroid \mathcal{M} , and the closely related holonomy Lie algebra $\mathfrak{h}(\mathcal{M})$. We construct flat connections from non-constant special cocycles on \mathcal{M} , and we characterize the key axiom for multinets on \mathcal{M} by using $\mathfrak{h}(\mathcal{M})$.

5.1. Flat, g-valued connections. We start by reviewing some standard material on flat connections, following the approach from [21, 22, 41].

Let (A, d) be a commutative, differential graded algebra over \mathbb{C} , for short, a cdga. We will assume that A is connected (i.e., $A^0 = \mathbb{C}$) and of finite q-type, for some $q \ge 1$ (i.e., A^i is finite-dimensional, for all $i \le q$). The cohomology groups $H^i(A)$ are \mathbb{C} -vector

spaces, of finite dimension if $i \leq q$. Since *A* is connected, the differential $d: A^0 \to A^1$ vanishes, and so we may view $H^1(A)$ as a linear subspace of A^1 .

Now let g be a finite-dimensional Lie algebra over \mathbb{C} . On the graded vector space $A \otimes g$, we may define a bracket by $[a \otimes x, b \otimes y] = ab \otimes [x, y]$, for $a, b \in A$ and $x, y \in g$. This functorial construction produces a differential graded Lie algebra $A \otimes g$, with grading inherited from A, and differential $d(a \otimes x) = da \otimes x$.

An element $\omega \in A^1 \otimes g$ is called an *infinitesimal*, g-valued flat connection on (A, d) if ω satisfies the Maurer–Cartan equation,

(27)
$$d\omega + \frac{1}{2}[\omega, \omega] = 0.$$

We will denote by $\mathscr{F}(A, \mathfrak{g})$ the subset of $A^1 \otimes \mathfrak{g}$ consisting of all flat connections. This set has a natural affine structure, and depends functorially on both *A* and \mathfrak{g} . Notice that $\mathscr{F}(A, \mathfrak{g})$ depends only on the degree 2 truncation $A^{\leq 2} = A/\bigoplus_{i>2} A^i$ of our cdga.

Consider the algebraic map $\pi: A^1 \times \mathfrak{g} \to A^1 \otimes \mathfrak{g}$ given by $(a, x) \mapsto a \otimes x$. Notice that π restricts to a map $\pi: H^1(A) \times \mathfrak{g} \to \mathscr{F}(A, \mathfrak{g})$. The set $\mathscr{F}^{(1)}(A, \mathfrak{g}) := \pi(H^1(A) \times \mathfrak{g})$ is an irreducible, Zariski-closed subset of $\mathscr{F}(A, \mathfrak{g})$, which is equal to either $\{0\}$, or to the cone on $\mathbb{P}(H^1(A)) \times \mathbb{P}(\mathfrak{g})$. We call its complement the *regular* part of $\mathscr{F}(A, \mathfrak{g})$.

5.2. Holonomy Lie algebra. An alternate view of the parameter space of flat connections involves only Lie algebras. Let us briefly review this approach, following the detailed study done in [41].

Let $A_i = \text{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(A^i, \mathbb{C})$ be the dual vector space. Let $\nabla : A_2 \to A_1 \land A_1$ be the dual of the multiplication map $A^1 \land A^1 \to A^2$, and let $d_1 : A_2 \to A_1$ be the dual of the differential $d^1 : A^1 \to A^2$. By definition, the *holonomy Lie algebra* of (A, d) is the quotient of the free Lie algebra on the \mathbb{C} -vector space A_1 by the ideal generated by the image of $d_1 + \nabla$:

(28)
$$\mathfrak{h}(A) = \operatorname{Lie}(A_1)/(\operatorname{im}(d_1 + \nabla)).$$

This construction is functorial. Indeed, if $\varphi: A \to A'$ is a cdga map, then the linear map $\varphi_1 = (\varphi^1)^*: A'_1 \to A_1$ extends to Lie algebra map $\text{Lie}(\varphi_1): \text{Lie}(A'_1) \to \text{Lie}(A_1)$, which in turn induces a Lie algebra map $\mathfrak{h}(\varphi): \mathfrak{h}(A') \to \mathfrak{h}(A)$.

When d = 0, the holonomy Lie algebra $\mathfrak{h}(A)$ inherits a natural grading from the free Lie algebra, compatible with the Lie bracket. Thus, $\mathfrak{h}(A)$ is a finitely presented, graded Lie algebra, with generators in degree 1, and relations in degree 2. In the particular case when A is the cohomology algebra of a path-connected space X with finite first Betti number, $\mathfrak{h}(A)$ coincides with the classical holonomy Lie algebra $\mathfrak{h}(X)$ of K.T. Chen.

Given a finite set $\mathbb{k} = \{c_1, \dots, c_k\}$, let us define the *reduced* free Lie algebra on \mathbb{k} as

(29)
$$\overline{\operatorname{Lie}}(\Bbbk) = \operatorname{Lie}(c_1, \ldots, c_k) / \left(\sum_{\alpha=1}^k c_\alpha = 0 \right).$$

Clearly, $\overline{\text{Lie}}(\Bbbk)$ is a graded Lie algebra, isomorphic to the free Lie algebra of rank k-1.

Example 5.1. Consider the *k*-times punctured sphere, $S = \mathbb{CP}^1 \setminus \{k \text{ points}\}$. Letting $\mathbb{k} = \{c_1, \ldots, c_k\}$ be the set of homology classes in $H_1(S, \mathbb{C})$ represented by standardly oriented loops around the punctures, we readily see that $\mathfrak{h}(S) = \overline{\text{Lie}}(\mathbb{k})$.

As before, let g be a finite-dimensional Lie algebra. As noted in [41], the canonical isomorphism $\iota: A^1 \otimes \mathfrak{g} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(A_1, \mathfrak{g})$ restricts to a functorial isomorphism

(30)
$$\iota \colon \mathscr{F}(A,\mathfrak{g}) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Lie}}(\mathfrak{h}(A),\mathfrak{g}).$$

Under this isomorphism, the subset $\mathscr{F}^{(1)}(A,\mathfrak{g})$ corresponds to the set $\operatorname{Hom}^{1}_{\operatorname{Lie}}(\mathfrak{h}(A),\mathfrak{g})$ of Lie algebra morphisms whose image is at most 1-dimensional.

If $\varphi \colon A \to A'$ is a cdga map, we will let $\varphi' \colon \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Lie}}(\mathfrak{h}(A), \mathfrak{g}) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Lie}}(\mathfrak{h}(A'), \mathfrak{g})$ denote the morphism of algebraic varieties induced by $\mathfrak{h}(\varphi)$.

5.3. The holonomy Lie algebra of a matroid. Let \mathscr{M} be a simple matroid, and let $A = A(\mathscr{M}) \otimes \mathbb{C}$ be the Orlik–Solomon algebra of \mathscr{M} with coefficients in \mathbb{C} . As noted before, the \mathbb{C} -vector space A^1 has basis $\{e_u\}_{u \in \mathscr{M}}$. Let A_1 be the dual vector space, with dual basis $\{a_u\}_{u \in \mathscr{M}}$.

By definition, the holonomy Lie algebra of the matroid, $\mathfrak{h}(\mathscr{M}) := \mathfrak{h}(A)$, is the quotient of the free Lie algebra on A_1 by the ideal generated by the image of the dual of the multiplication map, $A^1 \wedge A^1 \rightarrow A^2$. Using the presentation (12) for the algebra $A(\mathscr{M})$, it is proved in [48, §11] that $\mathfrak{h}(\mathscr{M})$ has the following quadratic presentation:

(31)
$$\mathfrak{h}(\mathscr{M}) = \operatorname{Lie}(a_u, \ u \in \mathscr{M}) \Big/ \Big(\sum_{v \in X} [a_u, a_v], \ X \in L_2(\mathscr{M}), u \in X \Big).$$

Now let g be a finite-dimensional Lie algebra over \mathbb{C} . Once we identify $A^1 \otimes \mathfrak{g} \cong \mathfrak{g}^{\mathcal{A}}$, a g-valued 1-form ω may be viewed as a vector with components $\omega_u \in \mathfrak{g}$ indexed by the points $u \in \mathcal{M}$. By (30), $\omega \in \mathscr{F}(A, \mathfrak{g})$ if and only if

(32)
$$\sum_{v \in X} [\omega_u, \omega_v] = 0, \text{ for all } X \in L_2(\mathscr{M}) \text{ and } u \in X.$$

Let span(ω) be the linear subspace of g spanned by the set $\{\omega_u\}_{u \in \mathcal{M}}$. Clearly, if dim span(ω) ≤ 1 , then ω is a solution to the system of equations (32); the set of such solutions is precisely $\mathscr{F}^{(1)}(A, \mathfrak{g})$. We call a solution ω regular if dim span(ω) ≥ 2 .

Noteworthy is the case when $g = \mathfrak{sl}_2$, a case studied in a more general context in [41]. In this setting, an \mathfrak{sl}_2 -valued 1-form $\omega = (\omega_u)_{u \in \mathcal{M}}$ is a solution to the system of equations (32) if and only if, for each $X \in L_2(\mathcal{M})$,

(33) either
$$\sum_{v \in X} \omega_v = 0$$
, or dim span $\{\omega_v\}_{v \in X} \leq 1$.

5.4. Holonomy Lie algebra and multinets. We may now characterize the key multinet axiom (3) from §2.3 in terms of certain Lie algebra morphisms defined on the holonomy Lie algebra, as follows.

Let \mathscr{M} be a matroid, endowed with a partition into non-empty blocks, $\mathscr{M} = \coprod_{\alpha \in \Bbbk} \mathscr{M}_{\alpha}$, and a multiplicity function, $m: \mathscr{M} \to \mathbb{N}$. For each flat $X \in L_2(\mathscr{M})$, define supp(X) as in (9), and call the flat mono-colored if |supp(X)| = 1, and multi-colored, otherwise. Write $\mathbb{k} = \{c_1, \ldots, c_k\}$, and let $\overline{\text{Lie}}(\mathbb{k})$ be the reduced free Lie algebra from (29). To these data, we associate a graded epimorphism of free Lie algebras,

(34)
$$\varphi: \operatorname{Lie}(a_u, u \in \mathscr{M}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Lie}(\Bbbk)$$

by sending a_u to $m_u \cdot c_\alpha$, for each $u \in \mathcal{M}_\alpha$.

Proposition 5.2. Given a matroid partition $\mathcal{M} = \prod_{\alpha \in \Bbbk} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}$ and a multiplicity function $m: \mathcal{M} \to \mathbb{N}$, the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) The map φ defined above factors through a graded Lie algebra epimorphism, $\varphi \colon \mathfrak{h}(\mathscr{M}) \twoheadrightarrow \overline{\operatorname{Lie}}(\Bbbk).$
- (2) The integer $n_X := \sum_{u \in \mathcal{M}_{\alpha} \cap X} m_u$ is independent of α , for each multi-colored flat $X \in L_2(\mathcal{M}).$

Proof. The morphism φ factors through $\mathfrak{h}(\mathcal{M})$ if and only if equations (32) are satisfied by $\omega_u = \varphi(a_u)$. In turn, these equations are equivalent to

(35)
$$\left[\sum_{\alpha\in\mathbb{k}}\left(\sum_{u\in X\cap\mathscr{M}_{\alpha}}m_{u}\right)c_{\alpha},c_{\beta}\right]=0,$$

for all $X \in L_2(\mathcal{M})$ and $\beta \in \text{supp}(X)$. Clearly, equations (35) are always satisfied if X is a mono-colored flat.

Now assume condition (1) holds. As is well-known, commuting elements in a free Lie algebra must be dependent; see for instance [42]. It follows that $\sum_{\alpha \in \Bbbk} (\sum_{u \in X \cap \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}} m_u) c_{\alpha}$ belongs to $\mathbb{C} \cdot c_{\beta} + \mathbb{C} \cdot (\sum_{\alpha \in \Bbbk} c_{\alpha})$, for all $\beta \in \operatorname{supp}(X)$. When X is multi-colored, this constraint implies that $\sum_{u \in X \cap \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}} m_u$ is independent of α . Conversely, assume (2) holds. Equations (35) for a multi-colored flat X reduce then to

 $n_X \cdot \left[\sum_{\alpha \in \Bbbk} c_\alpha, c_\beta\right] = 0$, and these are satisfied since $\sum_{\alpha \in \Bbbk} c_\alpha = 0$ in $\overline{\text{Lie}}(\Bbbk)$.

5.5. An evaluation map. Let V be a finite-dimensional \mathbb{C} -vector space, and let k be a finite set with $k \ge 3$ elements. Inside the vector space V^{\Bbbk} , consider the linear subspace

(36)
$$\mathcal{H}^{\Bbbk}(V) = \big\{ x = (x_{\alpha}) \in V^{\Bbbk} \mid \sum_{\alpha \in \Bbbk} x_{\alpha} = 0 \big\}.$$

Given a family of elements of a vector space, we may speak about its rank, that is, the dimension of the vector subspace generated by that family. Inside $\mathcal{H}^{\Bbbk}(V)$, we define the *regular part* to be the set

(37)
$$\mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{reg}}^{\Bbbk}(V) = \{ x \in \mathcal{H}^{\Bbbk}(V) \mid \mathrm{rank}(x) > 1 \}.$$

Let us view an element $x \in V^{\Bbbk}$ as a map, $x \colon \Bbbk \to V$. Given a matroid \mathcal{M} , let us denote the induced map, $\Bbbk^{\mathcal{M}} \to V^{\mathcal{M}}$, by $ev_{\bullet}(x)$. For a fixed element $\tau \in \Bbbk^{\mathcal{M}}$, we obtain in this way a linear "evaluation" map

(38)
$$\operatorname{ev}_{\tau} \colon V^{\Bbbk} \to V^{\mathscr{M}}, \quad \operatorname{ev}_{\tau}(x)_{u} = x_{\tau(u)}, \text{ for } u \in \mathscr{M}.$$

We will use this simple construction in the case when V is a Lie algebra g and τ is a non-constant, special \Bbbk -cocycle on \mathcal{M} .

Proposition 5.3. Let \mathscr{M} be a matroid and let \mathfrak{g} be a finite-dimensional, complex Lie algebra. For every $\tau \in Z'_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M}) \setminus B_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M})$, the map ev_{τ} induces a linear embedding,

 $\operatorname{ev}_{\tau} \colon \mathcal{H}^{\Bbbk}(\mathfrak{g}) \hookrightarrow \mathscr{F}(A(\mathscr{M}) \otimes \mathbb{C}, \mathfrak{g}).$

Moreover, ev_{τ} *is rank-preserving, and so the regular parts are preserved.*

Proof. We first check that $ev_{\tau}(x) \in g^{\mathscr{M}}$ satisfies the flatness conditions (32), for $x \in \mathcal{H}^{\Bbbk}(\mathfrak{g})$, where $\omega_u = x_{\tau(u)}$, for $u \in \mathscr{M}$. If τ is constant on $X \in L_2(\mathscr{M})$, this is clear. Otherwise, $\tau: X \to \Bbbk$ is a bijection, hence the system (32) becomes $[\sum_{\alpha \in \Bbbk} x_{\alpha}, x_{\tau(u)}] = 0$, for all $u \in X$, and we are done, since $x \in \mathcal{H}^{\Bbbk}(\mathfrak{g})$.

We also know that $\tau: \mathscr{M} \to \Bbbk$ is surjective, since $\tau \notin B_{\Bbbk}(\mathscr{M})$. This implies that $\operatorname{rank}(\operatorname{ev}_{\tau}(x)) = \operatorname{rank}(x)$ for all $x \in \mathfrak{g}^{\Bbbk}$. In particular, ev_{τ} is injective.

In the setup from Theorem 1.3(ii), the above result may be interpreted as an explicit way of lifting information on modular resonance to \mathbb{C} , via flat connections.

6. COMPLEX RESONANCE VARIETIES AND PENCILS

We now narrow our focus to realizable matroids, and recall the description of the (degree 1, depth 1) complex resonance variety of an arrangement \mathcal{A} in terms of multinets on subarrangements of \mathcal{A} . As an application of our techniques, we prove Theorem 1.5 and Theorem 1.6(vi) from the Introduction.

6.1. **Resonance varieties of arrangements.** Let \mathcal{A} be a hyperplane arrangement in \mathbb{C}^{ℓ} , and let $A = H^*(\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{C})$ be its Orlik–Solomon algebra over \mathbb{C} . The (first) resonance variety of the arrangement, $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A}) := \mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A})$, is a closed algebraic subset of the affine space $H^1(\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{C}) = \mathbb{C}^{\mathcal{A}}$. Since the slicing operation described in §2.2 does not change $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A})$, we may assume without loss of generality that $\ell = 3$.

The basic structure of the (complex) resonance varieties of arrangements is explained in the following theorem, which summarizes work of Cohen–Suciu [9] and Libgober– Yuzvinsky [38]. (We refer to [22] for a more general context where such a statement holds.)

Theorem 6.1. All irreducible components of the resonance variety $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A})$ are linear subspaces, intersecting pairwise only at 0. Moreover, the positive-dimensional components have dimension at least two, and the cup-product map $A^1 \wedge A^1 \rightarrow A^2$ vanishes identically on each such component.

We will also need a basic result from Arapura theory [1] (see also [22]), a result which adds geometric meaning to the aforementioned properties of $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A})$. Let *S* denote \mathbb{CP}^1 with at least 3 points removed. A map $f: M(\mathcal{A}) \to S$ is said to be *admissible* if *f* is a regular, surjective map with connected generic fiber.

Theorem 6.2. The correspondence $f \rightsquigarrow f^*(H^1(S, \mathbb{C}))$ gives a bijection between the set of admissible maps (up to reparametrization at the target) and the set of positive-dimensional components of $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A})$.

Most important for our purposes are the *essential* components of $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A})$, i.e., those irreducible components which do not lie in any coordinate subspace of $\mathbb{C}^{\mathcal{A}}$. We will give a complete description of these components in the next subsection.

6.2. **Pencils and multinets.** As shown by Falk and Yuzvinsky in [27], the essential components of $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A})$ can be described in terms of pencils arising from multinets on $L_{\leq 2}(\mathcal{A})$. An alternate description of $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathscr{M}, \mathbb{C})$, valid for arbitrary simple matroids \mathscr{M} , was given in [43]. We will follow here the approach from [27].

Suppose we have a *k*-multinet \mathcal{N} on \mathcal{A} , with parts $\mathcal{A}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{A}_k$ and multiplicity vector *m*. Let $Q(\mathcal{A}) = \prod_{H \in \mathcal{A}} f_H$ be a defining polynomial for \mathcal{A} , and set

$$(39) Q_{\alpha} = \prod_{H \in \mathcal{A}_{\alpha}} f_{H}^{m_{H}}$$

The polynomials Q_1, \ldots, Q_k define a pencil of degree d in \mathbb{CP}^1 , having k completely reducible fibers that correspond to $\mathcal{A}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{A}_k$. For each $\alpha > 2$, we may write Q_α as a linear combination $a_\alpha Q_1 + b_\alpha Q_2$. In this way, we obtain a k-element subset

(40)
$$D = \{(0:-1), (1:0), (b_3:-a_3), \dots, (b_k:-a_k)\} \subset \mathbb{CP}^1.$$

Consider now the arrangement \mathcal{A}' in \mathbb{C}^2 defined by the polynomial $Q(\mathcal{A}') = g_1 \cdots g_k$, where $g_\alpha(z_1, z_2) = a_\alpha z_1 + b_\alpha z_2$. Projectivizing gives a canonical projection $\pi \colon M(\mathcal{A}') \to S := \mathbb{CP}^1 \setminus D$. Setting $\psi(x) = (Q_1(x), Q_2(x))$ gives a regular map $\psi \colon M(\mathcal{A}) \to M(\mathcal{A}')$. It is now readily verified that the regular map

(41)
$$f_{\mathcal{N}} = \pi \circ \psi \colon M(\mathcal{A}) \to S$$

is admissible. Hence, the linear subspace $f_{\mathcal{N}}^*(H^1(S,\mathbb{C})) \subset H^1(M(\mathcal{A}),\mathbb{C})$ is a component of $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A})$. Moreover, this subspace has dimension k-1, and does not lie in any coordinate subspace. Conversely, as shown in [27, Theorem 2.5], every essential component of $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A})$ can be realized as $f_{\mathcal{N}}^*(H^1(S,\mathbb{C}))$, for some multinet \mathcal{N} on \mathcal{A} .

6.3. An induced homomorphism. To describe the above subspace explicitly, and for further purposes, we need to compute the homomorphism induced in homology by the map f_N . To that end, let $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_k$ be compatibly oriented, simple closed curves on $S = \mathbb{CP}^1 \setminus D$, going around the points of D, so that $H_1(S, \mathbb{Z})$ is generated by the homology classes $c_\alpha = [\gamma_\alpha]$, subject to the single relation $\sum_{\alpha=1}^k c_\alpha = 0$.

Recall that the cohomology ring $H^{\bullet}(M(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{Z})$ is generated by the degree 1 classes $\{e_H\}_{H \in \mathcal{A}}$ dual to the meridians about the hyperplanes of \mathcal{A} . We shall abuse notation, and denote by the same symbol the image of e_H in $H^1(M(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{C})$. As is well-known, e_H is the de Rham cohomology class of the logarithmic 1-form $\frac{1}{2\pi i} d \log f_H$ on $M(\mathcal{A})$.

For each index $\alpha \in [k]$, set

(42)
$$u_{\alpha} := \sum_{H \in \mathcal{A}_{\alpha}} m_{H} e_{H} \in H^{1}(M(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{C}).$$

Lemma 6.3. The induced homomorphism $(f_{\mathcal{N}})_*$: $H_1(M(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{Z}) \to H_1(S, \mathbb{Z})$ is given by

$$(f_{\mathcal{N}})_*(a_H) = m_H c_{\alpha}, \quad for \ H \in \mathcal{A}_{\alpha}.$$

In other words, $(f_N)_*$ is the \mathbb{Z} -form of the homomorphism φ associated to \mathcal{N} that appears in Proposition 5.2.

Proof. Given the construction of f_N from (41), it is plainly enough to check that the dual homomorphism, $\psi^* \colon H^1(M(\mathcal{A}'), \mathbb{C}) \to H^1(M(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{C})$, sends the de Rham cohomology class of $d \log g_\alpha$ to u_α . An easy calculation shows that

(43)
$$\psi^*(d\log g_\alpha) = d\log Q_\alpha = \sum_{H\in\mathcal{A}_\alpha} m_H d\log f_H,$$

and the claim follows.

Taking the transpose of $(f_N)_*$ and using linear algebra, we obtain the following immediate corollary.

Corollary 6.4 ([27]). Let \mathcal{N} be a k-multinet on an arrangement \mathcal{A} , and let $f_{\mathcal{N}} \colon M(\mathcal{A}) \to S = \mathbb{CP}^1 \setminus \{k \text{ points}\}$ be the associated admissible map. Then the pull-back $f_{\mathcal{N}}^*(H^1(S, \mathbb{C}))$ is the linear subspace of $H^1(M(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{C})$ spanned by the vectors $u_2 - u_1, \ldots, u_k - u_1$, where $u_{\alpha} = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{A}_{\alpha}} m_H e_H$.

6.4. Mapping multinets to resonance components. Let $\text{Ess}(\mathcal{A})$ be the set of essential components of the resonance variety $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A})$. The preceding discussion allows us to define a map

(44) Ψ : {multinets on \mathcal{A} } \rightarrow Ess $(\mathcal{A}), \quad \mathcal{N} \mapsto f_{\mathcal{N}}^{*}(H^{1}(S, \mathbb{C})).$

This map sends k-multinets to essential, (k-1)-dimensional components of $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A})$. By the above-mentioned result of Falk and Yuzvinsky, the map Ψ is surjective. The next lemma describes the fibers of this map.

Lemma 6.5. The surjective map Ψ defined in (44) is constant on the orbits of the natural Σ_k -action on k-multinets. Moreover, the fibers of Ψ coincide with those orbits.

Proof. The first claim is an immediate consequence of the description of the action of Σ_k on *k*-multinets, given in §2.3, coupled with the construction of $\Psi(\mathcal{N})$.

 \Box

Suppose now that \mathcal{N} is a k-multinet, and $\Psi(\mathcal{N}) = \Psi(\mathcal{N}')$, for some multinet \mathcal{N}' . As noted before, dim $\Psi(\mathcal{N}) = k - 1$; hence, \mathcal{N}' is also a k-multinet. Let $f_{\mathcal{N}}$ and $f_{\mathcal{N}'}$ be the corresponding admissible maps from $M(\mathcal{A})$ to $S = \mathbb{CP}^1 \setminus \{k \text{ points}\}$. Since $f_{\mathcal{N}}^*(H^1(S,\mathbb{C})) = f_{\mathcal{N}'}^*(H^1(S,\mathbb{C}))$, Arapura theory implies that $f_{\mathcal{N}}$ and $f_{\mathcal{N}'}$ differ by an automorphism of the curve S.

In turn, this automorphism extends to an automorphism of \mathbb{CP}^1 , inducing a permutation $g \in \Sigma_k$ of the *k* points. Hence, the automorphism induced on $H_1(S, \mathbb{Z})$ sends c_{α} to $c_{g\alpha}$, for each $\alpha \in [k]$. Using Lemma 6.3, we conclude that \mathcal{N} and \mathcal{N}' are conjugate under the action of *g*.

More generally, every positive-dimensional component P of $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A})$ may be described in terms of multinets. Indeed, denote by $\operatorname{pr}_H : \mathbb{C}^{\mathcal{A}} \to \mathbb{C}$ the coordinate projections, and consider the subarrangement $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ consisting of those hyperplanes H for which $\operatorname{pr}_H : P \to \mathbb{C}$ is non-zero. It is easy to check that the subspace $P \subseteq \mathbb{C}^{\mathcal{B}}$ belongs to $\operatorname{Ess}(\mathcal{B})$. Hence, there is a multinet \mathcal{N} on \mathcal{B} such that $P = \Psi(\mathcal{N})$. Denoting by $f_P : M(\mathcal{A}) \to S$ the regular map given by the restriction of the admissible map $f_{\mathcal{N}} : M(\mathcal{B}) \to S$ to the complement of \mathcal{A} , this means that $P = f_P^*(H^1(S, \mathbb{C}))$.

Corollary 6.6. When P runs through the set of positive-dimensional irreducible components of $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A})$, the regular maps f_P constructed above form a complete set of representatives for the admissible maps on $M(\mathcal{A})$, modulo reparametrization at the target.

Proof. By Theorem 6.2, we only need to check that each regular map $f_P: M(\mathcal{A}) \to S$ is admissible. Since $f_{\mathcal{N}}: M(\mathcal{B}) \to S$ is admissible, it is easy to infer that f_P is non-constant, with connected generic fiber. Therefore, it is enough to prove that f_P is surjective. In turn, this is a consequence of the fact that $P = f_P^*(H^1(S, \mathbb{C}))$ is a component of $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A})$.

To prove this last claim, let us denote by S' the image of f_P . Then S' is obtained from S by removing a finite set of points, and $f_P = j \circ f'$, where $j: S' \to S$ is the inclusion and $f': M(\mathcal{A}) \to S'$ is the corestriction of f. Clearly, the map f' is admissible. Hence, both $j^*: H^1(S, \mathbb{C}) \to H^1(S', \mathbb{C})$ and $f'^*: H^1(S', \mathbb{C}) \to H^1(M(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{C})$ are injections. On the other hand, $f'^*(H^1(S', \mathbb{C}))$ is a component of $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A})$, by Theorem 6.2. Therefore, f^* and f'^* have the same image. Hence, $H^1(S, \mathbb{C})$ and $H^1(S', \mathbb{C})$ have the same dimension, and so S' = S. This proves the claim, and we are done.

6.5. Counting essential components. Recall that $\text{Ess}_k(\mathcal{A})$ denotes the set of essential components of $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A})$ arising from *k*-nets on \mathcal{A} . As mentioned previously, this set is empty for $k \ge 5$.

Proof of Theorem 1.5. Let k = 3 or 4, and let \Bbbk be the corresponding Galois field, \mathbb{F}_k . By Lemma 6.5 and Theorem 1.3, we have that

(45)
$$|\operatorname{Ess}_{k}(\mathcal{A})| = \frac{1}{k!} |Z_{\Bbbk}'(\mathcal{A}) \setminus B_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{A})| \leq \frac{1}{k!} |Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{A}) \setminus B_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{A})|.$$

Clearly,

$$(46) |Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{A}) \setminus B_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{A})| = |\Bbbk| \cdot |Z_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{A}) / B_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{A}) \setminus \{0\}| = k \cdot (k^{\beta_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{A})} - 1).$$

Inequality (5) now follows at once.

Next, assume that both $\text{Ess}_3(\mathcal{A})$ and $\text{Ess}_4(\mathcal{A})$ are non-empty. From Proposition 3.3 we then infer that $\beta_2(\mathcal{A}) = 0$ and $\beta_2(\mathcal{A}) \ge 2$, a contradiction. This completes the proof. \Box

Proof of Theorem 1.6(vi). Suppose $L_2(\mathcal{A})$ has no flats of multiplicity properly divisible by 3. By Lemma 4.8, $Z'_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{A}) = Z_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{A})$. The above proof then shows that $|\text{Ess}_3(\mathcal{A})| = (3^{\beta_3(\mathcal{A})} - 1)/2$, and we are done.

7. Evaluation maps and multinets

We extend in this section our construction of evaluation maps, from nets to multinets. For realizable matroids, we exploit evaluation maps in two directions. First, we construct the inverse of the bijection λ_k from Lemma 4.1 by using the variety of $\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})$ -valued flat connections on the Orlik–Solomon algebra. Second, we provide in Theorem 7.6 (Theorem 1.8 from the Introduction) a combinatorial condition insuring that this variety can be reconstructed explicitly from information on modular resonance.

7.1. Flat connections coming from multinets. We first extend the construction from Proposition 5.3 to a broader context. Let \Bbbk be a finite set with $k \ge 3$ elements and let \mathscr{M} be a simple matroid. For a *k*-multinet \mathscr{N} on \mathscr{M} , denote by $\varphi_{\mathscr{N}} \colon \mathfrak{h}(\mathscr{M}) \twoheadrightarrow \overline{\text{Lie}}(\Bbbk)$ the epimorphism of graded Lie algebras constructed in Proposition 5.2.

Let g be a finite-dimensional complex Lie algebra, and let

(47)
$$\varphi_{\mathcal{N}}^{!} \colon \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Lie}}(\operatorname{\overline{Lie}}(\Bbbk), \mathfrak{g}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Lie}}(\mathfrak{h}(\mathscr{M}), \mathfrak{g})$$

be the induced map on Hom-sets. Using (29) and (30), we may identify $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Lie}}(\operatorname{\overline{Lie}}(\Bbbk), \mathfrak{g})$ with $\mathcal{H}^{\Bbbk}(\mathfrak{g})$ and $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Lie}}(\mathfrak{h}(\mathscr{M}), \mathfrak{g})$ with $\mathscr{F}(A(\mathscr{M}) \otimes \mathbb{C}, \mathfrak{g})$. Let

(48)
$$\operatorname{Ev}_{\mathcal{N}} \colon \mathcal{H}^{\Bbbk}(\mathfrak{g}) \longrightarrow \mathscr{F}(A(\mathscr{M}) \otimes \mathbb{C}, \mathfrak{g})$$

be the map corresponding to $\varphi_{\mathcal{N}}^!$ under these identifications. Finally, for each $\alpha \in \mathbb{k}$, let $\operatorname{pr}_{\alpha} : \mathcal{H}^{\Bbbk}(\mathfrak{g}) \to \mathfrak{g}$ be the restriction to $\mathcal{H}^{\Bbbk}(\mathfrak{g})$ of the α -coordinate projection $\mathfrak{g}^{\Bbbk} \to \mathfrak{g}$.

Proposition 7.1. With notation as above, the following hold.

- (1) The evaluation map Ev_N is a rank-preserving, linear embedding.
- (2) For any $u \in \mathcal{M}$, there is $\alpha \in \Bbbk$ such that the restriction of $\operatorname{pr}_u \otimes \operatorname{id}_{\mathfrak{g}} \colon A^1(\mathcal{M}) \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{g}$ to $\mathcal{H}^{\Bbbk}(\mathfrak{g})$ via $\operatorname{Ev}_{\mathcal{N}}$ belongs to $\mathbb{C}^* \cdot \operatorname{pr}_{\alpha}$.
- (3) If \mathcal{N} is a k-net, then $\operatorname{Ev}_{\mathcal{N}} = \operatorname{ev}_{\tau}$, where $\tau = \lambda_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{N})$.

Proof. (1) By construction, the map Ev_N is linear. Since φ_N is surjective, the map $\varphi_N^!$ is rank-preserving; hence, Ev_N is also rank-preserving, and thus, injective.

(2) Using the underlying partition of \mathcal{N} , we find that $u \in \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}$, for a unique $\alpha \in \Bbbk$. By construction of $\varphi_{\mathcal{N}}$, we have that $\operatorname{Ev}_{\mathcal{N}}^*(\operatorname{pr}_u \otimes \operatorname{id}_{\mathfrak{g}}) = m_u \cdot \operatorname{pr}_{\alpha}$.

(3) Let \mathcal{N} be a k-net. For $x \in \mathcal{H}^{\Bbbk}(\mathfrak{g})$ and $u \in \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}$, we have that $\operatorname{Ev}_{\mathcal{N}}(x)_u = m_u x_{\alpha}$, by construction. Moreover, $m_u = 1$, since \mathcal{N} is a reduced multinet. On the other hand, $\operatorname{ev}_{\tau}(x)_u = x_{\tau(u)}$, by (38), and $\tau(u) = \alpha$, by (24). This completes the proof.

7.2. Flat connections and complex resonance varieties. In the case of realizable matroids, a crucial ingredient in our approach is a general result relating resonance and flat connections, based on the detailed study done in [41].

To start with, let *A* be a graded, graded-commutative algebra over \mathbb{C} . Recall we assume *A* is connected and A^1 is finite-dimensional. Given a linear subspace $P \subset A^1$, define a connected sub-algebra $A_P \subset A^{\leq 2}$ by setting $A_P^1 = P$ and $A_P^2 = A^2$, and then restricting the multiplication map accordingly.

Now let g be a complex Lie algebra. The following equality is then easily verified:

(49)
$$\mathscr{F}(A_P,\mathfrak{g}) = \mathscr{F}(A,\mathfrak{g}) \cap (P \otimes \mathfrak{g}).$$

Thus, if g is finite-dimensional, then $\mathscr{F}(A_P, \mathfrak{g})$ is a Zariski-closed subset of $\mathscr{F}(A, \mathfrak{g})$.

Theorem 7.2. Suppose $\mathscr{R}_1(A) = \bigcup_{P \in \mathscr{P}} P$, where \mathscr{P} is a finite collection of linear subspaces of A^1 , intersecting pairwise only at 0. Then, for any finite-dimensional Lie algebra g, the following hold:

(1) $\mathscr{F}(A_P,\mathfrak{g}) \cap \mathscr{F}(A_{P'},\mathfrak{g}) = \{0\}$, for all distinct subspaces $P, P' \in \mathscr{P}$.

$$(2) \ \mathscr{F}(A,\mathfrak{g}) \supseteq \mathscr{F}^{(1)}(A,\mathfrak{g}) \cup \bigcup_{P \in \mathscr{P}} \mathscr{F}(A_P,\mathfrak{g}).$$

- (3) If $g = \mathfrak{sl}_2$, then the above inclusion holds as an equality.
- (4) If $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{sl}_2$ and all subspaces from \mathscr{P} are isotropic, then $\mathscr{F}(A_P, \mathfrak{g}) = P \otimes \mathfrak{g}$, for every $P \in \mathscr{P}$.

Proof. Claim (1) follows from our transversality hypothesis, while claim (2) is obvious, by the naturality property of flat connections. Claim (3) is proved in [41, Proposition 5.3]. Here, the assumption that $g = \mathfrak{sl}_2$ is crucial. In the proof of Proposition 5.3 from [41] it is also shown that $P \otimes g \subseteq \mathscr{F}(A, g)$, when *P* is isotropic. Claim (4) follows then from (49).

7.3. From evaluation maps to multinets. We now return to the situation when $A = H^*(M(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{C})$ is the Orlik–Solomon algebra of an arrangement \mathcal{A} . In view of Theorem 6.1, all the hypotheses of Theorem 7.2 are satisfied in this case.

Guided by Proposition 7.1, we take $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})$ and define the evaluation space $\mathscr{E}_k(\mathcal{A})$ to be the set of all maps, $e: \mathcal{H}^{\Bbbk}(\mathfrak{g}) \to \mathscr{F}(A(\mathcal{A}) \otimes \mathbb{C}, \mathfrak{g})$, satisfying properties (1) and (2) from that proposition, and having the property that $\operatorname{im}(e)$ is an irreducible component of $\mathscr{F}(A(\mathcal{A}) \otimes \mathbb{C}, \mathfrak{g})$.

Lemma 7.3. Let A be the complex Orlik–Solomon algebra of an arrangement \mathcal{A} , and let $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A}) = \bigcup_{P \in \mathscr{P}} P$ be the irreducible decomposition of its resonance variety. The following then hold.

(1) The irreducible decomposition of the variety $\mathscr{F}(A, \mathfrak{sl}_2)$ is given by

$$\mathscr{F}(A,\mathfrak{sl}_2)=\mathscr{F}^{(1)}(A,\mathfrak{sl}_2)\cup \bigcup_{P\in\mathscr{P}}\mathscr{F}(A_P,\mathfrak{sl}_2).$$

(2) For every k-multinet \mathcal{N} on \mathcal{A} ,

$$\operatorname{im}(\operatorname{Ev}_{\mathcal{N}}) = P \otimes \mathfrak{sl}_2 = \mathscr{F}(A_P, \mathfrak{sl}_2),$$

where $P = \Psi(\mathcal{N})$.

Proof. (1) By Theorem 6.2, every non-zero subspace $P \in \mathscr{P}$ is of the form $P = f^*(H^1(S,\mathbb{C}))$, for some admissible map $f: M(\mathcal{A}) \to S := \mathbb{CP}^1 \setminus \{k \text{ points}\}$. Theorem 7.4 from [41] gives the irreducible decomposition of $\mathscr{F}(A, \mathfrak{sl}_2)$, with $\mathscr{F}(A_P, \mathfrak{sl}_2)$ replaced by $f^!(\mathscr{F}(H^{\bullet}(S,\mathbb{C}),\mathfrak{sl}_2))$. But $\mathscr{F}(H^{\bullet}(S,\mathbb{C}),\mathfrak{sl}_2) = H^1(S,\mathbb{C}) \otimes \mathfrak{sl}_2$, since $H^2(S,\mathbb{C}) = 0$. Hence, by Theorem 7.2(4),

(50)
$$f^{!}(\mathscr{F}(H^{\bullet}(S,\mathbb{C}),\mathfrak{sl}_{2})) = P \otimes \mathfrak{sl}_{2} = \mathscr{F}(A_{P},\mathfrak{sl}_{2}),$$

and this proves our claim.

(2) Let $f_{\mathcal{N}}: M(\mathcal{A}) \to S$ be the admissible map associated to the multinet \mathcal{N} . By Lemma 6.3, the map $\varphi_{\mathcal{N}}^1: \mathfrak{h}^1(\mathcal{A}) \to \overline{\text{Lie}}^1(\Bbbk)$ may be identified with $(f_{\mathcal{N}})_* \otimes \mathbb{C}$. It follows that $\operatorname{im}(\operatorname{Ev}_{\mathcal{N}}) = \Psi(\mathcal{N}) \otimes \mathfrak{sl}_2$, by the construction (44) of Ψ . In view of (50), we are done.

In view of the above lemma, the construction from Proposition 7.1 gives a correspondence,

(51) Ev:
$$\{k \text{-multinets on } \mathcal{A}\} \longrightarrow \mathscr{E}_k(\mathcal{A})$$
.

We now define another function,

(52) Net:
$$\mathscr{E}_k(\mathcal{A}) \longrightarrow \{k \text{-multinets on } \mathcal{A}\}/\Sigma_k$$
,

as follows. Given a map $e: \mathcal{H}^{\Bbbk}(\mathfrak{sl}_2) \to \mathscr{F}(A(\mathcal{A}) \otimes \mathbb{C}, \mathfrak{sl}_2)$ belonging to $\mathscr{E}_k(\mathcal{A})$, the variety $\operatorname{im}(e)$ cannot be the irreducible component $\mathscr{F}^{(1)}(A, \mathfrak{sl}_2)$. Indeed, $\mathcal{H}^{\Bbbk}(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$ contains a regular element x, since dim $\mathfrak{sl}_2 \ge 2$. Since e is a rank-preserving linear map we must have $\operatorname{rank}(e(x)) \ge 2$, and therefore e(x) is a regular flat connection. Hence, by Lemma 7.3(1) and Theorem 7.2(4), $\operatorname{im}(e) = P \otimes \mathfrak{sl}_2$, for a unique $0 \ne P \in \mathscr{P}$.

We claim that *P* must be an essential component of $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A})$. For otherwise we could find a hyperplane $H \in \mathcal{A}$ such that $\operatorname{pr}_H : A^1 \to \mathbb{C}$ vanishes on *P*. But now recall *e* satisfies property (2) from Proposition 7.1; hence, pr_α must vanish on $\mathcal{H}^{\Bbbk}(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$, for some $\alpha \in \Bbbk$, a contradiction. By Lemma 6.5, then, $P = \Psi(\mathcal{N})$, for some k'-multinet \mathcal{N} on \mathcal{A} , uniquely determined up to the natural $\Sigma_{k'}$ -action. Moreover,

$$3(k'-1) = \dim P \otimes \mathfrak{sl}_2 = \dim \mathcal{H}^{\Bbbk}(\mathfrak{sl}_2) = 3(k-1),$$

and thus k' = k. We then define Net(e) to be the class modulo Σ_k of the k-multinet \mathcal{N} .

Corollary 7.4. The composition Net \circ Ev is the canonical projection that associates to a k-multinet \mathcal{N} on \mathcal{A} its Σ_k -orbit.

Proof. By Lemma 7.3, we have that $\operatorname{im}(\operatorname{Ev}_{\mathcal{N}}) = \Psi(\mathcal{N}) \otimes \mathfrak{sl}_2$. By construction, $\operatorname{Net}(\operatorname{Ev}_{\mathcal{N}})$ is the Σ_k -orbit of \mathcal{N} .

Remark 7.5. Returning to the bijection from Lemma 4.1, let us take a special k-cocycle $\tau \in Z'_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{A}) \setminus B_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{A})$, and set $\mathcal{N} = \lambda_{\Bbbk}^{-1}(\tau)$. By Proposition 7.1(3) and Corollary 7.4, $ev_{\tau} \in \mathscr{E}_{k}(\mathcal{A})$ and $Net(ev_{\tau})$ is the Σ_{k} -orbit of the *k*-net \mathcal{N} . This shows that, for realizable matroids, the inverse of the modular construction λ_{\Bbbk} may be described in terms of $\mathfrak{sl}_{2}(\mathbb{C})$ -valued flat connections on the Orlik–Solomon algebra.

7.4. Flat connections from special cocycles. Let $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ be a subarrangement. Denote the associated monomorphism between complex Orlik–Solomon algebras by $\psi \colon \mathcal{B} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{A}$. This map in turn induces a rank-preserving inclusion, $\psi \otimes \operatorname{id}_{\mathfrak{g}} \colon \mathscr{F}(\mathcal{B}, \mathfrak{g}) \hookrightarrow \mathscr{F}(\mathcal{A}, \mathfrak{g})$, for any finite-dimensional complex Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . For $\tau \in Z'_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{B}) \setminus B_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{B})$, denote by $\operatorname{ev}_{\tau}^{\mathcal{B}} \colon \mathcal{H}^{\Bbbk}(\mathfrak{g}) \to \mathscr{F}(\mathcal{A}, \mathfrak{g})$ the linear, rank-preserving embedding $(\psi \otimes \operatorname{id}_{\mathfrak{g}}) \circ \operatorname{ev}_{\tau}$.

Theorem 7.6. Assume that all essential components of $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{B})$ arise from nets on \mathcal{B} , for every subarrangement $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$. Then

(53)
$$\mathscr{F}_{\mathrm{reg}}(A(\mathcal{A})\otimes\mathbb{C},\mathfrak{sl}_{2}(\mathbb{C}))=\bigcup_{\mathcal{B},\tau}\,\mathrm{ev}_{\tau}^{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{reg}}^{\Bbbk}(\mathfrak{sl}_{2}(\mathbb{C})))\,,$$

where the union is taken over all $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ and all $\tau \in Z'_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{B}) \setminus B_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{B})$.

Proof. Let $\mathscr{R}_1(A) = \bigcup_{P \in \mathscr{P}} P$ be the decomposition of the complex resonance variety of \mathcal{A} into (linear) irreducible components. For simplicity, write $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}^{\Bbbk}(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$. In view of Theorem 7.2, we only have to show that, for every non-zero component P of $\mathscr{R}_1(A)$, the set $(P \otimes \mathfrak{sl}_2)_{\text{reg}}$ is contained in the right-hand side of (53). As explained in §6.4, the subspace P belongs to $\text{Ess}(\mathcal{B})$, for some subarrangement $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$. Thus, we may replace \mathcal{A} by \mathcal{B} , and reduce our proof to showing that, for any $P \in \text{Ess}(\mathcal{B})$, the set $(P \otimes \mathfrak{sl}_2)_{\text{reg}}$ is contained in $ev_{\tau}(\mathcal{H}_{\text{reg}})$, for some $\tau \in Z'_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{B}) \setminus B_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{B})$.

Using our hypothesis, we infer that $P = \Psi(\mathcal{N})$, for some *k*-net \mathcal{N} on \mathcal{B} . Set $\tau = \lambda_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{N}) \in Z'_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{B}) \setminus B_{\Bbbk}(\mathcal{B})$. It follows from Proposition 7.1(3) and Lemma 7.3 that $ev_{\tau}(\mathcal{H}) = P \otimes \mathfrak{sl}_2$. By construction, rank $(ev_{\tau}(x)) = \operatorname{rank}(x)$, for all $x \in \mathcal{H}$. Hence, $ev_{\tau}(\mathcal{H}_{reg}) = (P \otimes \mathfrak{sl}_2)_{reg}$.

7.5. **Examples.** We conclude this section with a couple of extended examples.

Example 7.7. Let \mathcal{A} be the reflection arrangement of type B₃, defined by the polynomial $Q = z_1 z_2 z_3 (z_1^2 - z_2^2) (z_1^2 - z_3^2) (z_2^2 - z_3^2)$. As shown in [39], we have that $\beta_p(\mathcal{A}) = 0$, for all p. In particular, \mathcal{A} supports no net, by (5). On the other hand, this arrangement admits the multinet from Figure 2. Thus, the hypothesis of Theorem 7.6 is violated in this example.

We claim that Theorem 7.6 does not hold for this arrangement. To verify this claim, pick $x = (x_0, x_1, x_2) \in \mathcal{H}_{reg}^{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$ and define $\omega = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{A}} e_H \otimes \omega_H \in A^1 \otimes \mathfrak{sl}_2$ by

$$\omega_{z_1} = 2x_1, \, \omega_{z_2} = 2x_2, \, \omega_{z_3} = 2x_0, \, \omega_{z_1 \pm z_2} = x_0, \, \omega_{z_2 \pm z_3} = x_1, \, \omega_{z_1 \pm z_3} = x_2.$$

It is easy to check that $\omega \in \mathscr{F}_{reg}(A, \mathfrak{sl}_2)$. Since clearly $x_i \neq 0$ for all *i*, we infer that ω is supported on the whole arrangement \mathcal{A} . On the other hand, all elements from the right-hand side of (53) are supported on proper subarrangements of \mathcal{A} , by Lemma 4.1. Thus, equality does not hold in (53) in this case.

Example 7.8. Let Γ be a finite simplicial graph, with vertex set $[\ell]$ and edge set E. The corresponding (unsigned) graphic arrangement, \mathcal{A}_{Γ} , is the arrangement in \mathbb{C}^{ℓ} defined by the polynomial $Q = \prod_{(i,j)\in E} (z_i - z_j)$.

For instance, if $\Gamma = K_{\ell}$ is the complete graph on ℓ vertices, then A_{Γ} is the reflection arrangement of type $A_{\ell-1}$. The Milnor fibrations of graphic arrangements were studied in [39]. Clearly, mult $(\mathcal{A}_{\Gamma}) \subseteq \{3\}$, and so $\beta_p(\mathcal{A}_{\Gamma}) = 0$, unless p = 3. It turns out that $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}_{\Gamma}) = 0$ for all graphs Γ except $\Gamma = K_3$ and K_4 , in which case $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}_{\Gamma}) = 1$.

Theorem 1.2 was proved in [39] for the class of graphic arrangements. For such arrangements, the inequalities (5) are sharp. Indeed, $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A}_{\Gamma})$ has an essential component if and only if $\Gamma = K_3$ or K_4 , in which case $|\text{Ess}(\mathcal{A}_{\Gamma})| = |\text{Ess}_3(\mathcal{A}_{\Gamma})| = 1$; see [51, 9]. Moreover, it follows that Theorem 7.6 holds for all graphic arrangements.

Finally, by [39, Theorem A], Conjecture 1.9 holds in the strong form (8), for all (not necessarily unsigned) graphic arrangements.

8. CHARACTERISTIC VARIETIES AND THE MILNOR FIBRATION

In this section, topology comes to the fore. Using the jump loci for homology in rank 1 local systems, we prove implication $(iv) \Rightarrow (v)$ from Theorem 1.6, and we finish the proof of Theorem 1.7.

8.1. Characteristic varieties and finite abelian covers. Let *X* be a connected, finite-type CW-complex. Without loss of generality, we may assume *X* has a single 0-cell. Let $\pi = \pi_1(X, x_0)$ be the fundamental group of *X*, based at this 0-cell.

Let $\text{Hom}(\pi, \mathbb{C}^*)$ be the affine algebraic group of \mathbb{C} -valued, multiplicative characters on π , which we will identify with $H^1(\pi, \mathbb{C}^*) = H^1(X, \mathbb{C}^*)$. The (degree q, depth r) *characteristic varieties* of X are the jump loci for homology with coefficients in rank-1 local systems on X:

(54)
$$\mathscr{V}_{r}^{q}(X) = \{ \xi \in \operatorname{Hom}(\pi, \mathbb{C}^{*}) \mid \dim_{\mathbb{C}} H_{q}(X, \mathbb{C}_{\xi}) \ge r \}.$$

By construction, these loci are Zariski-closed subsets of the character group. Here is a simple example, that we will need later on.

Example 8.1. Let $S = \mathbb{CP}^1 \setminus \{k \text{ points}\}$. Then $\mathscr{V}_r^1(S)$ equals $H^1(S, \mathbb{C}^*) = (\mathbb{C}^*)^{k-1}$ if $1 \leq r \leq k-2$, it equals $\{1\}$ if r = k-1, and it is empty if $r \geq k$.

As is well-known, the geometry of the characteristic varieties controls the Betti numbers of regular, finite abelian covers of X. For instance, suppose that the deck-transformation group is cyclic of order n, and fix an inclusion $\iota: \mathbb{Z}_n \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}^*$, by sending $1 \mapsto e^{2\pi i/n}$. With this choice, the epimorphism $v: \pi \twoheadrightarrow \mathbb{Z}_n$ defining the cyclic cover X^v yields a (torsion) character, $\rho = \iota \circ v: \pi \to \mathbb{C}^*$. We then have an isomorphism of $\mathbb{C}[\mathbb{Z}_n]$ -modules,

(55)
$$H_q(X^{\nu}, \mathbb{C}) \cong H_q(X, \mathbb{C}) \oplus \bigoplus_{1 < d \mid n} (\mathbb{C}[t]/\Phi_d(t))^{\operatorname{depth}(\rho^{n/d})},$$

where depth(ξ) := dim_C $H_q(X, \mathbb{C}_{\xi}) = \max\{r \mid \xi \in \mathscr{V}_r^q(X)\}$. For a quick proof of this classical formula (originally due to A. Libgober, M. Sakuma, and E. Hironaka), we refer to [12, Theorem 2.5] or [52, Theorem B.1].

As shown in [49], the exponents in formula (55) coming from prime-power divisors can be estimated in terms of the corresponding Aomoto–Betti numbers. More precisely, suppose *n* is divisible by $d = p^s$, for some prime *p*. Composing the canonical projection $\mathbb{Z}_n \twoheadrightarrow \mathbb{Z}_p$ with *v* defines a cohomology class $\bar{v} \in H^1(X, \mathbb{F}_p)$.

Theorem 8.2 ([49]). With notation as above, assume $H_*(X,\mathbb{Z})$ is torsion-free. Then

$$\dim_{\mathbb{C}} H_q(X,\mathbb{C}_{\rho^{n/d}}) \leqslant \dim_{\mathbb{F}_p} H^q(H^{ullet}(X,\mathbb{F}_p),\delta_{ar{
u}}).$$

8.2. Characteristic varieties of arrangements. Let \mathcal{A} be a hyperplane arrangement in \mathbb{C}^{ℓ} . Since the slicing operation described in §2.2 does not affect the character torus, $H^1(\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{C}^*) = (\mathbb{C}^*)^{\mathcal{A}}$, or the degree 1 characteristic varieties of the arrangement, $\mathcal{V}_r(\mathcal{A}) := \mathcal{V}_r^1(\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}))$, we will assume from now on that $\ell = 3$.

The varieties $\mathscr{V}_r(\mathcal{A})$ are closed algebraic subsets of the character torus. Since $M(\mathcal{A})$ is a smooth, quasi-projective variety, a general result of Arapura [1] insures that $\mathscr{V}_r(\mathcal{A})$ is, in fact, a finite union of translated subtori. Moreover, as shown in [9, 38], and, in a broader context in [22], the tangent cone at the origin to $\mathscr{V}_1(\mathcal{A})$ coincides with the resonance variety $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A})$.

More explicitly, consider the exponential map $\mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}^*$, and the coefficient homomorphism exp: $H^1(\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{C}) \to H^1(\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{C}^*)$. Then, if $P \subset H^1(\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{C})$ is one of the linear subspaces comprising $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A})$, its image under the exponential map, $\exp(P) \subset$ $H^1(\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{C}^*)$, is one of the subtori comprising $\mathscr{V}_1(\mathcal{A})$. Moreover, this correspondence gives a bijection between the components of $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A})$ and the components of $\mathscr{V}_1(\mathcal{A})$ passing through the origin.

Now recall from Arapura theory ([1, 22]) that each positive-dimensional component of $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A})$ is obtained by pullback along an admissible map $f: M(\mathcal{A}) \to S$, where $S = \mathbb{CP}^1 \setminus \{k \text{ points}\}\$ and $k \ge 3$. Thus, each positive-dimensional component of $\mathscr{V}_1(\mathcal{A})$ containing the origin is of the form $\exp(P) = f^*(H^1(S, \mathbb{C}^*))$, with *f* admissible. In view of Example 8.1, the subtorus $f^*(H^1(S, \mathbb{C}^*))$ is a positive-dimensional component of $\mathscr{V}_1(\mathcal{A})$ through the origin that lies inside $\mathscr{V}_{k-2}(\mathcal{A})$, for any admissible map *f* as above.

Next, let $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$ be the projectivized line arrangement in \mathbb{CP}^2 , and let $U(\mathcal{A})$ be its complement. The Hopf fibration, $\pi: \mathbb{C}^3 \setminus \{0\} \to \mathbb{CP}^2$ restricts to a trivializable bundle map, $\pi: M(\mathcal{A}) \to U(\mathcal{A})$, with fiber \mathbb{C}^* . Therefore, $M(\mathcal{A}) \cong U(\mathcal{A}) \times \mathbb{C}^*$, and the character torus $H^1(M(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{C}^*)$ splits as $H^1(U(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{C}^*) \times \mathbb{C}^*$. Under this splitting, the characteristic varieties $\mathscr{V}_r^1(M(\mathcal{A}))$ get identified with the varieties $\mathscr{V}_r^1(U(\mathcal{A}))$ lying in the first factor.

8.3. The homology of the Milnor fiber. Let $Q = Q(\mathcal{A})$ be a defining polynomial for our arrangement. The restriction of Q to the complement defines the Milnor fibration, $Q: M(\mathcal{A}) \to \mathbb{C}^*$, whose typical fiber, $F(\mathcal{A}) = Q^{-1}(1)$, is the Milnor fiber of the arrangement.

The map $\pi: M(\mathcal{A}) \to U(\mathcal{A})$ restricts to a regular, \mathbb{Z}_n -cover $\pi: F(\mathcal{A}) \to U(\mathcal{A})$, where $n = |\mathcal{A}|$. As shown in [8] (see [52, Theorem 4.10] for full details), this cover is classified by the "diagonal" epimorphism

(56)
$$\nu: H_1(U(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{Z}) \twoheadrightarrow \mathbb{Z}_n, \quad \nu(\pi_*(a_H)) = 1 \mod n.$$

For each divisor *d* of *n*, let ρ_d : $H_1(M(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{Z}) \to \mathbb{C}^*$ be the character defined by $\rho_d(a_H) = e^{2\pi i/d}$. Using formula (55), we conclude that

(57)
$$H_1(F(\mathcal{A}),\mathbb{C}) = \mathbb{C}^{n-1} \oplus \bigoplus_{1 < d \mid n} (\mathbb{C}[t]/\Phi_d(t))^{e_d(\mathcal{A})},$$

as modules over $\mathbb{C}[\mathbb{Z}_n]$, where $e_d(\mathcal{A}) = \operatorname{depth}(\rho_d)$. Furthermore, applying Theorem 8.2, we obtain the "modular upper bound"

(58)
$$e_{p^s}(\mathcal{A}) \leq \beta_p(\mathcal{A}),$$

valid for all primes *p* and integers $s \ge 1$.

8.4. **Milnor fibration and multinets.** A key task now is to find suitable lower bounds for the exponents appearing in formula (57). The next result provides such bounds, in the presence of reduced multinets on the arrangement.

Theorem 8.3. Suppose that an arrangement A admits a reduced k-multinet. Letting $f: M(A) \to S$ denote the associated admissible map, the following hold.

- (1) The character ρ_k belongs to $f^*(H^1(S, \mathbb{C}^*))$, and $e_k(\mathcal{A}) \ge k-2$.
- (2) If $k = p^s$, then $\rho_{p^r} \in f^*(H^1(S, \mathbb{C}^*))$ and $e_{p^r}(\mathcal{A}) \ge k-2$, for all $1 \le r \le s$.

Proof. First let \mathcal{N} be an arbitrary *k*-multinet on \mathcal{A} , with parts \mathcal{A}_{α} and multiplicity function *m*, and let $f = f_{\mathcal{N}} \colon M(\mathcal{A}) \to S$. It follows from Lemma 6.3 that the induced morphism between character groups, $f^* \colon H^1(S, \mathbb{C}^*) \to H^1(M(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{C}^*)$, takes the character ρ given by $\rho(c_{\alpha}) = \zeta_{\alpha}$, where $\zeta_1 \cdots \zeta_k = 1$, to the character given by

(59)
$$f^*(\rho)(a_H) = \zeta_{\alpha}^{m_H}, \quad \text{for } H \in \mathcal{A}_{\alpha}$$

Now assume \mathcal{N} is reduced. Taking $\zeta_{\alpha} = e^{2\pi i/k}$ in the above, we see that $\rho_k = f^*(\rho)$ belongs to the subtorus $T = f^*(H^1(S, \mathbb{C}^*))$. Since T lies inside $\mathscr{V}_{k-2}(\mathcal{A})$, formula (57) shows that $e_k(\mathcal{A}) = \operatorname{depth}(\rho_k) \ge k-2$.

Finally, suppose $k = p^s$. Then $\rho_{p^r} = f^*(\rho)^{p^{s-r}}$, which again belongs to the subtorus T, for $1 \leq r \leq s$. The inequality $e_{p^r}(\mathcal{A}) \geq k-2$ now follows as above.

Remark 8.4. An alternate way of proving Theorem 8.3, part (1) is by putting together [27, Theorem 3.11] and [20, Theorem 3.1(i)]. The proof we give here, though, is more direct, and, besides, it will be needed in the proof of Theorem 8.6 below. Furthermore, the additional part (2) will be used in proving Theorem 1.7.

8.5. From $\beta_3(\mathcal{A})$ to $e_3(\mathcal{A})$. Before proceeding, we need to recall a result of Artal Bartolo, Cogolludo, and Matei, [2, Proposition 6.9].

Theorem 8.5 ([2]). Let X be a smooth, quasi-projective variety. Suppose V and W are two distinct, positive-dimensional irreducible components of $\mathcal{V}_r(X)$ and $\mathcal{V}_s(X)$, respectively. If $\xi \in V \cap W$ is a torsion character, then $\xi \in \mathcal{V}_{r+s}(X)$.

The next theorem establishes implication (iv) \Rightarrow (v) from Theorem 1.6 in the Introduction.

Theorem 8.6. Let \mathcal{A} be an arrangement that has no rank-2 flats of multiplicity properly divisible by 3. If $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}) \leq 2$, then $e_3(\mathcal{A}) = \beta_3(\mathcal{A})$.

Proof. From the modular bound (58), we know that $e_3(\mathcal{A}) \leq \beta_3(\mathcal{A})$. Since we are assuming that $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}) \leq 2$, there are only three cases to consider. First, if $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}) = 0$, then clearly $e_3(\mathcal{A}) = 0$. Second, if $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}) = 1$, then $e_3(\mathcal{A}) = 1$, by implication (iii) \Rightarrow (i) from Theorem 1.6 and Theorem 8.3(1).

Finally, suppose $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}) = 2$. We then know from Theorem 1.6(vi) that the resonance variety $\mathscr{R}_1(\mathcal{A})$ has at least 4 essential components, all corresponding to 3-nets on \mathcal{A} . Pick two of them, given by 3-nets \mathcal{N} and \mathcal{N}' , constructed as in Corollary 6.4.

By Theorem 8.3, the characteristic variety $\mathscr{V}_1(\mathcal{A})$ has two positive-dimensional components, $f^*_{\mathcal{N}}(H^1(S, \mathbb{C}^*))$ and $f^*_{\mathcal{N}'}(H^1(S, \mathbb{C}^*))$, both passing through the torsion character ρ_3 . These components must be distinct, since the corresponding components of the resonance variety, $f^*_{\mathcal{N}}(H^1(S, \mathbb{C}))$ and $f^*_{\mathcal{N}'}(H^1(S, \mathbb{C}))$, are distinct. By Theorem 8.5, then, ρ_3 belongs to $\mathscr{V}_2(\mathcal{A})$. Formula (57) now gives $e_3(\mathcal{A}) \ge 2$. By the modular bound, $e_3(\mathcal{A}) = 2$, and the proof is complete. \Box

8.6. From $\beta_2(\mathcal{A})$ to $e_2(\mathcal{A})$ and $e_4(\mathcal{A})$. We are now ready to complete the proof of Theorem 1.7 from the Introduction.

Proof of Theorem 1.7. The equivalence (i) \Leftrightarrow (ii) is a direct consequence of Theorem 1.3, case $\mathbb{k} = \mathbb{F}_4$.

Suppose \mathcal{A} admits a 4-net. By Theorem 8.3(2), then, both $e_2(\mathcal{A})$ and $e_4(\mathcal{A})$ are at least 2. On the other hand, the modular bound (58) gives that both $e_2(\mathcal{A})$ and $e_4(\mathcal{A})$ are

at most $\beta_2(\mathcal{A})$. The further assumption that $\beta_2(\mathcal{A}) \leq 2$ implies that this bound is sharp, and we are done.

Example 8.7 (cf. [20, 27, 58]). In Theorem 1.7, we were guided by the properties of the Hessian arrangement. This is the arrangement \mathcal{A} of 12 lines in \mathbb{CP}^2 which consists of the 4 completely reducible fibers of the cubic pencil generated by $z_1^3 + z_2^3 + z_3^3$ and $z_1 z_2 z_3$. Each of these fibers is a union of 3 lines in general position. The resulting partition defines a (4, 3)-net on $L_{\leq 2}(\mathcal{A})$, depicted in Figure 5. Clearly, mult $(\mathcal{A}) = \{4\}$.

From the above information, we find that $\beta_2(\mathcal{A}) = 2$. Using Theorem 1.7, we recover the known result that $\Delta_{\mathcal{A}}(t) = (t-1)^{11}[(t+1)(t^2+1)]^2$. The Hessian arrangement shows that the hypothesis on multiplicities is needed in Theorem 1.2. Indeed, $\beta_p(\mathcal{A}) = 0$ for all primes $p \neq 2$, by Corollary 3.2; consequently, $\Delta_{\mathcal{A}}(t) \neq (t-1)^{11}(t^2+t+1)^{\beta_3(\mathcal{A})}$.

Finally, we infer from the above discussion that Conjecture 1.9 holds for the Hessian arrangement, in the strong form (8).

8.7. More examples. We conclude this section with several applications to some concrete classes of examples. To start with, Theorem 1.6 provides a partial answer to the following question, raised by Dimca, Ibadula, and Măcinic in [18]: If $\rho_d \in \mathscr{V}_1(\mathcal{A})$, must ρ_d actually belong to a component of $\mathscr{V}_1(\mathcal{A})$ passing through the origin?

Corollary 8.8. Suppose $L_2(\mathcal{A})$ has no flats of multiplicity 3r, for any r > 1. If $\rho_3 \in \mathcal{V}_1(\mathcal{A})$, then ρ_3 belongs to a 2-dimensional component of $\mathcal{V}_1(\mathcal{A})$, passing through 1.

Proof. Since $\rho_3 \in \mathscr{V}_1(\mathcal{A})$, formulas (57)–(58) imply that $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}) \neq 0$. By Theorem 1.6, then, \mathcal{A} supports a reduced 3-multinet \mathcal{N} . By Theorem 8.3, the character ρ_3 belongs to the 2-dimensional subtorus $f_{\mathcal{N}}^*(H^1(S, \mathbb{C}^*)) \subset \mathscr{V}_1(\mathcal{A})$.

Remark 8.9. In [14], A. Dimca used superabundance methods to analyze the algebraic monodromy action on $H_1(F(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{C})$, for an arrangement \mathcal{A} which has at most triple points, and which admits a reduced 3-multinet. In the case when $|\mathcal{A}| = 18$, he discovered an interesting type of combinatorics, for which he proved the following dichotomy result: there are two possibilities for \mathcal{A} , defined in superabundance terms, and leading to different values for $e_3(\mathcal{A})$.

An example due to M. Yoshinaga and recorded in [14] shows that one of these two cases is actually realizable. Our Theorem 1.2 then shows that the other case is not realizable, thereby answering the subtle question raised in [14, Remark 1.2]. This indicates that our topological approach may also be used to solve difficult superabundance problems.

Example 8.10. Let $\{A_m\}_{m \ge 1}$ be the family of monomial arrangements, corresponding to the complex reflection groups of type G(m, m, 3), and defined by the polynomials

$$Q_m = (z_1^m - z_2^m)(z_1^m - z_3^m)(z_2^m - z_3^m).$$

As noted in [27], each arrangement \mathcal{A}_m supports a (3, m)-net with partition given by the factors of \mathcal{Q}_m , and has Latin square corresponding to \mathbb{Z}_m . There are 3 mono-colored flats of multiplicity m, and all the others flats in $L_2(\mathcal{A}_m)$ have multiplicity 3.

With this information at hand, Lemma 3.1 easily implies that $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}_m) = 1$ if $3 \nmid m$, and $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}_m) = 2$, otherwise. In the first case, we infer from Theorem 1.6 that $e_3(\mathcal{A}_m) = 1$. If m = 3, then \mathcal{A}_3 is the Ceva arrangement from Example 3.9; in this case, Theorem 1.6 shows that $e_3(\mathcal{A}_3) = 2$. Finally, if m = 3d, with d > 1, the multiplicity assumption from Theorem 1.6 no longer holds; nevertheless, the methods used here can be adapted to show that $e_3(\mathcal{A}_{3d}) = 2$, for all d. In fact, it can be shown that $e_p(\mathcal{A}_m) = \beta_p(\mathcal{A}_m)$, for all $m \ge 1$ and all primes p, see [40] for full details.

We conclude with an in-depth analysis of a family of arrangements which highlights the necessity of our multiplicity assumptions from Theorem 1.6, and reveals several other interesting phenomena.

Example 8.11. Let $\{A_m\}_{m \ge 1}$ be the family of full monomial arrangements, corresponding to the complex reflection groups of type G(m, 1, 3), and defined by the polynomials

$$Q_m = z_1 z_2 z_3 (z_1^m - z_2^m) (z_1^m - z_3^m) (z_2^m - z_3^m).$$

It is easy to see that $mult(A_m) = \{3, m+2\}$. Using Lemma 3.1, we infer that $\beta_3(A_m) = 1$ if m = 3d + 1, and $\beta_3(A_m) = 0$, otherwise.

As noted in [27], each arrangement \mathcal{A}_m supports a 3-multinet \mathcal{N}_m (non-reduced for m > 1), with multiplicity function equal to m on the hyperplanes $z_1 = 0$, $z_2 = 0$, $z_3 = 0$, and equal to 1, otherwise. Let $f: M(\mathcal{A}_m) \to S = \mathbb{CP}^1 \setminus \{3 \text{ points}\}$ be the associated admissible map, and let $\rho \in H^1(S, \mathbb{C}^*)$ be the diagonal character used in the proof of Theorem 8.3 for k = 3.

If m = 1, then A_1 is the reflection arrangement of type A_3 from Example 7.8, and N_1 is the 3-net from Figure 1. In this case, Theorem 1.6 applies, giving $e_3(A) = \beta_3(A) = 1$.

Now suppose m = 3d + 1, with d > 0. In this case, even though \mathcal{N}_m is not reduced, the equality $f^*(\rho) = \rho_3$ still holds, since $m \equiv 1 \mod 3$. Consequently, ρ_3 belongs to the component $T = f^*(H^1(S, \mathbb{C}^*))$ of $\mathscr{V}_1(\mathcal{A}_m)$. Hence, by formula (57), $e_3(\mathcal{A}_m) \ge 1$.

Although $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}_m) = 1$, we claim that \mathcal{A}_m supports no reduced 3-multinet. Indeed, suppose there was such a multinet \mathcal{N}'_m , with corresponding admissible map $f' \colon \mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}_m) \to S$. The same argument as above shows that ρ_3 lies in the component $T' = f'^*(H^1(S, \mathbb{C}^*))$ of $\mathcal{V}_1(\mathcal{A})$. If T = T', then $f^*(H^1(S, \mathbb{C})) = f'^*(H^1(S, \mathbb{C}))$, forcing \mathcal{N}_m and \mathcal{N}'_m to be conjugate under the natural Σ_3 -action, by Lemma 6.5. This is clearly impossible, since \mathcal{N}'_m is reduced and \mathcal{N}_m is not reduced. Hence, the components T and T' are distinct, and so Theorem 8.5 implies that $\rho_3 \in \mathcal{V}_2(\mathcal{A}_m)$. By formula (57), we must then have $e_3(\mathcal{A}_m) \ge 2$, thereby contradicting inequality (58).

Remark 8.12. The above family of examples shows that implication (iii) \Rightarrow (i) from Theorem 1.6 fails without our multiplicity restrictions. Indeed, $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}_m) = 1$, yet \mathcal{A}_m supports no reduced 3-multinet if $m \ge 2$.

Remark 8.13. These examples also show that the inclusion $Z'_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{M}) \subseteq Z_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{M})$ from Theorem 1.3(ii) can well be strict, even for realizable matroids. Indeed, consider the arrangements \mathcal{A}_{3d+1} with d > 0. The equality $Z'_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{A}_{3d+1}) = Z_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{A}_{3d+1})$ would imply that $Z'_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{A}_{3d+1}) \setminus B_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{A}_{3d+1}) \neq \emptyset$, since $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}_{3d+1}) \neq 0$. By Lemma 4.1, \mathcal{A}_{3d+1} would then support a 3-net, contradicting the conclusion of the previous remark.

Remark 8.14. Note that the inequality (5) is strict for A_{3d+1} and k = 3 when d > 0, since $\text{Ess}_3(A_{3d+1}) = \emptyset$ and $\beta_3(A_{3d+1}) = 1$. The same argument also shows that equality (vi) from Theorem 1.6 fails without our multiplicity assumptions.

Remark 8.15. The above analysis shows that $e_3(\mathcal{A}_m) = 1$, and thus (58) holds as an equality if $3 \mid m + 2$. We also have that $e_3(\mathcal{A}_m) = \beta_3(\mathcal{A}_m) = 0$ if $3 \nmid m + 2$. In fact, it can be checked that Conjecture 1.9 holds in the strong form (8), for all full monomial arrangements. For a complete proof of Conjecture 1.9(8) for all complex reflection arrangements, we refer to [40, 17, 23].

9. A FAMILY OF MATROIDS

We conclude by constructing an infinite family of matroids $\mathscr{M}(m)$ which are realizable over \mathbb{C} if and only if $m \leq 2$, and with the property that $\beta_3(\mathscr{M}(m)) = m$. As an application, we establish part (iv) of Theorem 1.6 from the Introduction, thereby completing the proof of that theorem.

9.1. Matroids coming from abelian groups. Given a finite abelian group G and an integer $m \ge 1$, there is a simple matroid $\mathcal{M}(G,m)$ of rank at most 3 on the product group G^m . The dependent subsets of size 3 of this matroid are all 3-tuples $\{v, v', v''\}$ for which v + v' + v'' = 0.

In this section, we take $G = \mathbb{F}_3$ and omit *G* from the notation. A useful preliminary remark is that v + v' + v'' = 0 in \mathbb{F}_3 if and only if either v = v' = v'' or v, v', and v'' are all distinct. Note also that $GL_m(\mathbb{F}_3)$ acts naturally on the matroid $\mathcal{M}(m)$.

Clearly, $\mathcal{M}(1)$ has rank 2, and is realized in \mathbb{CP}^2 by an arrangement of 3 concurrent lines. It is equally clear that $\mathcal{M}(m)$ has rank 3, for all m > 1. It is not hard to check that $\mathcal{M}(2)$ is realized over \mathbb{C} by the Ceva arrangement from Example 3.9. Our first goal is to show that $\mathcal{M}(m)$ cannot be realized over \mathbb{C} , for any m > 2.

It is useful to remark that the above construction is related to a classical topic, namely, finite affine geometries. Over a Galois field $\mathbb{k} = \mathbb{F}_{p^s}$, the dependent subsets of the associated rank m + 1 simple matroid AG (m, \mathbb{k}) are given by affine dependence in \mathbb{k}^m , for $m \ge 1$. Let $\mathscr{M}_{\mathbb{k}}(m)$ be the simple matroid of rank at most 3 on \mathbb{k}^m whose size 3 dependent subsets are given by all collinearity relations. Plainly, all 2-flats of $\mathscr{M}_{\mathbb{k}}(m)$ have multiplicity p^s . Furthermore, $\mathscr{M}_{\mathbb{k}}(1)$ has rank 2, hence is realizable in \mathbb{CP}^2 , while $\mathscr{M}_{\mathbb{k}}(m)$ has rank 3 for m > 1, being obtained from AG (m, \mathbb{k}) by rank 3 truncation.

It is straightforward to check that $\mathcal{M}(m) = \mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{F}_3}(m)$, for all *m*; see for instance [10]. With this remark, the next two lemmas (to be used later on in this section) become obvious from a geometric viewpoint.

For each $m \ge 1$, define a map

(60)
$$q: \mathcal{M}(m) \times \mathcal{M}(m) \to \mathcal{M}(m)$$

by setting q(v, v) = v and q(v, v') = -v - v' if $v \neq v'$. By construction, q(v, v') is the unique point in $v \lor v'$ (the flat generated by v, v') different from v and v'.

Lemma 9.1. For any $v \neq v'$, the set $\{v, v', q(v, v')\}$ belongs to $L_2(\mathcal{M}(m))$. Conversely, every rank 2 flat of $\mathcal{M}(m)$ is of this form. In particular, all flats in $L_2(\mathcal{M}(m))$ have multiplicity 3.

The matroids $\mathcal{M}(m)$ have a lot of 3-nets. More precisely, fix $a \in [m]$ and write

(61)
$$\mathscr{M}(m) = \coprod_{i \in \mathbb{F}_3} \mathscr{M}_i(m),$$

where $\mathcal{M}_i(m) = \{v = (v_1, \dots, v_m) \in \mathbb{F}_3^m \mid v_a = i\}$. We then have the following lemma.

Lemma 9.2. For each $m \ge 2$ and $a \in [m]$, the partition (61) defines a 3-net on $\mathcal{M}(m)$, with all submatroids $\mathcal{M}_i(m)$ being line-closed and isomorphic to $\mathcal{M}(m-1)$.

Proof. First note that an affine line whose direction is transversal to the direction of an affine hyperplane intersects that hyperplane in exactly one point. It follows that our partition satisfies the criterion from Lemma 2.3 for k = 3, and thus defines a 3-net on $\mathcal{M}(m)$. The proofs of the other claims are immediate.

Remark 9.3. More generally, for $\mathbb{k} = \mathbb{F}_{p^s}$ and $k = p^s$, the same argument shows that the affine truncation $\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{k}}(m)$ supports a non-trivial *k*-net, provided $m \ge 2$ and $k \ge 3$. As explained in §2.4, this fact implies that $\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{k}}(m)$ is non-realizable over \mathbb{C} , for $k \ge 5$. We will give more precise results of this type in Proposition 9.5(2) and Theorem 9.7 below.

9.2. The β -invariants and matroid realizability. Next, we show that our family of matroids is universal for β_3 -computations, in the following sense.

Proposition 9.4. For all $m \ge 1$, we have that $\beta_3(\mathcal{M}(m)) = m$.

Proof. For m = 1, this is clear. The inequality $\beta_3(\mathcal{M}(m)) \leq m$ follows by induction on *m*, using Corollary 3.6 and Lemma 9.2.

For each $a \in [m]$, define a vector $\eta_a \in \mathbb{F}_3^{\mathscr{M}(m)}$ by setting $\eta_a(v) = v_a$. We claim that $\eta_a \in \mathbb{Z}_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathscr{M}(m))$. Indeed, let $\{v, v', v''\}$ be a flat in $L_2(\mathscr{M}(m))$, so that v + v' + v'' = 0. Then $\eta_a(v) + \eta_a(v') + \eta_a(v'') = 0$, and the claim follows from Lemma 3.1. To prove that $\beta_3(\mathscr{M}(m)) \ge m$, it is enough to show that η_1, \ldots, η_m and σ are indepen-

To prove that $\beta_3(\mathcal{M}(m)) \ge m$, it is enough to show that η_1, \ldots, η_m and σ are independent, where $\sigma \in \mathbb{F}_3^{\mathscr{M}(m)}$ is the standard diagonal vector (i.e., $\sigma_v = 1$, for all $v \in \mathscr{M}(m)$). To that end, suppose $\sum_a c_a \eta_a + c\sigma = 0$. Evaluating on v = 0, we find that c = 0. Finally, evaluation on the standard basis vectors of \mathbb{F}_3^m gives $c_a = 0$ for all a, as needed.

Proposition 9.5. Let $\mathbb{k} = \mathbb{F}_{p^s}$ be a finite field different from \mathbb{F}_2 . Then, (1) $\beta_p(\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{k}}(m)) \ge m$, for all $m \ge 1$.

(2) If $\mathbb{k} \neq \mathbb{F}_3$, the matroids $\mathscr{M}_{\mathbb{k}}(m)$ are non-realizable over \mathbb{C} , for all $m \geq 2$.

Proof. From our hypothesis on \mathbb{k} , we have that $\Sigma(\mathbb{k}) = 0$, by Lemma 4.3. In view of Lemma 3.1, any affine function $\tau \in \mathbb{k}^{\mathscr{M}_{\mathbb{k}}(m)}$ belongs to $Z_{\mathbb{k}}(\mathscr{M}_{\mathbb{k}}(m))$. Indeed, let $X = \{\alpha u + (1 - \alpha)v \mid \alpha \in \mathbb{k}\}$ be a rank-2 flat of $\mathscr{M}_{\mathbb{k}}(m)$. Then

$$\sum_{w\in X}\tau_w=\sum_{\alpha\in\Bbbk}\alpha\tau_u+(1-\alpha)\tau_v=p^s\cdot\tau_v+\Sigma(\Bbbk)(\tau_u-\tau_v)=0,$$

as needed. An argument as in the proof of Proposition 9.4 now shows that assertion (1) holds.

To prove assertion (2), we use the Hirzebruch–Miyaoka–Yau inequality from [31]. This inequality involves the numbers

(62)
$$t_i = |\{X \in L_2(\mathscr{M}) \mid |X| = i\}|$$

associated to a matroid \mathscr{M} for each $1 < i \leq |\mathscr{M}|$. When there are no rank-2 flats of multiplicity $|\mathscr{M}|$ or $|\mathscr{M}| - 1$, and \mathscr{M} is realized by a line arrangement in \mathbb{CP}^2 , then

(63)
$$t_2 + \frac{3}{4}t_3 \ge |\mathcal{M}| + \sum_{i\ge 4}(i-4)t_i.$$

In our case, $|\mathcal{M}| = p^{sm}$, and the only non-zero number t_i occurs when $i = p^s > 3$. This clearly violates (63), thus showing that \mathcal{M} is not realizable. (Note that this argument breaks down for $\Bbbk = \mathbb{F}_{3}$.)

9.3. **Realizability of the** $\mathcal{M}(m)$ **matroids.** The case $\mathbb{k} = \mathbb{F}_3$ is much more subtle. In order to proceed with this case, we need to recall a result of Yuzvinsky (Corollary 3.5 from [58]). Let \mathcal{A} be an arrangement in \mathbb{C}^3 .

Lemma 9.6 ([58]). Let \mathcal{N} be a (3, mn)-net $(m \ge 3)$ on \mathcal{A} , such that each class \mathcal{A}_i can be partitioned into n blocks of size m, denoted \mathcal{A}_{ij} , and for every pair i, j, there is a k such that \mathcal{A}_{1i} , \mathcal{A}_{2j} , and \mathcal{A}_{3k} are the three classes of a (3, m)-subnet \mathcal{N}_{ij} of \mathcal{N} . If, moreover, each class of \mathcal{N}_{ij} is a pencil, then every class of \mathcal{N} is also a pencil.

Realizability in the family of matroids $\{\mathcal{M}(m)\}_{m\geq 1}$ is settled by the next result.

Theorem 9.7. For any $m \ge 3$, the sub-lattice $L_{\le 2}(\mathcal{M}(m))$ is not realizable over \mathbb{C} , i.e., there is no arrangement \mathcal{A} in \mathbb{C}^{ℓ} such that $L_{\le 2}(\mathcal{M}(m)) \cong L_{\le 2}(\mathcal{A})$, as lattices.

Proof. By Lemma 9.2, the matroid $\mathcal{M}(m-1)$ embeds in $\mathcal{M}(m)$; thus, we may assume m = 3. Clearly, it is enough to show that $L_{\leq 2}(\mathcal{M}(3))$ cannot be realized by any arrangement in \mathbb{C}^3 .

Assuming the contrary, we will use Lemma 9.6 to derive a contradiction. Take a = 1 in Lemma 9.2, and denote by \mathcal{N} the associated (3, 9)-net on $\mathcal{M}(3)$. Write each class in the form

(64)
$$\mathscr{M}_{i}(3) = \{i\} \times \mathbb{F}_{3} \times \mathbb{F}_{3} = \coprod_{j \in \mathbb{F}_{3}} \mathscr{M}_{ij}(3),$$

where $\mathcal{M}_{ij}(3) = \{i\} \times \{j\} \times \mathbb{F}_3$. For $j, j' \in \mathbb{F}_3$, define $j'' \in \mathbb{F}_3$ by j + j' + j'' = 0. To check the first assumption from Lemma 9.6, we have to show that the partition $\mathcal{M}_{0j}(3) [\mathcal{M}_{1j'}(3)] [\mathcal{M}_{2j''}(3)$ is a 3-subnet of \mathcal{N} .

Pick v = (i, j, k) and v' = (i', j', k') in two different classes of this partition. Note that necessarily $i \neq i'$, by construction. By Lemma 9.1, $v \lor v' = \{v, v', v''\}$, where v'' = -v - v'. Thus, we must have v'' = (i'', j'', k''), where i + i' + i'' = j + j' + j'' = 0. This implies that v'' belongs to the third class of the partition, as required for the 3-net property. Clearly, the 3-net defined by this partition is a 3-subnet of \mathcal{N} .

As noted before, each class of the partition has rank 2, being isomorphic to the matroid $\mathcal{M}(1)$. Hence, Lemma 9.6 applies, and implies that all classes of \mathcal{N} have rank 2. On the other hand, Lemma 9.2 insures that these classes are isomorphic to $\mathcal{M}(2)$. This is a contradiction, and so the proof is complete.

Let \mathcal{M} be a simple matroid of rank at least 3. By taking a generic slice, it is easy to check that the following statements are equivalent:

- (1) The rank 3 truncation $\tau_3(\mathcal{M})$ is realizable over \mathbb{C} ;
- (2) The sub-lattice $L_{\leq 2}(\tau_3(\mathcal{M}))$ is realizable over \mathbb{C} ;
- (3) The sub-lattice $L_{\leq 2}(\mathcal{M})$ is realizable over \mathbb{C} .

Applying now Proposition 9.5(2) and Theorem 9.7 to the matroids $\mathcal{M} = AG(m, \Bbbk)$, we obtain the following corollary.

Corollary 9.8. Let $\mathbb{k} = \mathbb{F}_{p^s}$ and set $k = p^s$. Suppose $m \ge 2$ and $k \ge 3$. Then the lattice $L_{\le 2}(AG(m, \mathbb{k}))$ is realizable over \mathbb{C} if and only if m = 2 and k = 3.

Remark 9.9. It is well-known that, for $m \ge 2$ and $k \ge 3$, the matroid AG (m, \Bbbk) is realizable over \mathbb{C} if and only if m = 2 and k = 3, see for instance Oxley [47, p. 522]. Clearly, our non-realizability result is stronger: not only is this matroid non-realizable, but even its collinearity relations are not realizable.

9.4. Collections of 3-nets. For the rest of this section, \mathcal{A} will denote an arrangement in \mathbb{C}^3 . Our goal is to prove the following theorem, which verifies assertion (iv) from Theorem 1.6 in the Introduction.

Theorem 9.10. Suppose $L_2(\mathcal{A})$ has no flats of multiplicity properly divisible by 3. Then $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}) \leq 2$.

Our strategy is based on the map $\lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}$: {3-nets on \mathcal{A} } $\rightarrow Z_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{A}) \setminus B_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{A})$ from Theorem 1.3. Recall that the map $\lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}$ is always injective. Moreover, as shown in Lemma 4.8, this map is also surjective when the above assumption on multiplicities is satisfied. In this case, $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}) \ge m$ if and only if there is a collection $\mathcal{N}^1, \ldots, \mathcal{N}^m$ of 3-nets on \mathcal{A} such that the classes $[\lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{N}^1)], \ldots, [\lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{N}^m)]$ are independent in $Z_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{A})/B_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{A})$.

Let \mathcal{A} be an arbitrary arrangement. When the above property holds, we call the nets $\{\mathcal{N}^a\}_{a\in[m]}$ *independent*. For $v = (v^1, \ldots, v^m) \in \mathcal{M}(m)$, we set $\mathcal{A}_v = \bigcap_{a\in[m]} \mathcal{N}^a_{v^a}$, where $\mathcal{A} = \coprod_{i\in\mathbb{F}_3} \mathcal{N}^a_i$ is the partition associated to \mathcal{N}^a . We say that the family $\{\mathcal{N}^a\}_{a\in[m]}$ has

the *intersection property* if $A_v \neq \emptyset$ for all v, and the *strong intersection property* if there is an integer d > 0 such that $|A_v| = d$ for all v.

Clearly, we have a partition, $\mathcal{A}_{v} \coprod \mathcal{A}_{v'} \coprod \mathcal{A}_{v''}$, for any flat $\{v, v', v''\} \in L_2(\mathcal{M}(m))$. If all these partitions define 3-nets, we say that $\{\mathcal{N}^a\}_{a \in [m]}$ has the *net property*.

Our starting point towards the proof of Theorem 9.10 is the following theorem.

Theorem 9.11. Suppose there is an arrangement \mathcal{A} in \mathbb{C}^3 , and a collection of 3-nets on \mathcal{A} , $\{\mathcal{N}, \mathcal{N}', \mathcal{N}''\}$, that has both the strong intersection property and the net property. Then the sub-lattice $L_{\leq 2}(\mathcal{M}(3))$ is realizable over \mathbb{C} .

Proof. Let $S^d(3) \subseteq \text{Sym}^{\bullet}(3)$ be the vector space of degree *d* polynomials in 3 variables. We will realize $L_{\leq 2}(\mathcal{M}(3))$ in the dual space, $V = S^d(3)^*$.

For each hyperplane $H \in \mathcal{A}$, choose a linear form f_H in 3 variables such that $H = \text{ker}(f_H)$. Next, we associate to a point $v \in \mathcal{M}(3)$ the vector $Q_v = \prod_{H \in \mathcal{A}_v} f_H \in V^* \setminus \{0\}$, using the strong intersection property. Note that $\{f_H\}_{H \in \mathcal{A}}$ are distinct primes in the ring Sym(3). In particular, $\{\overline{Q}_v\}_{v \in \mathcal{M}(3)}$ are distinct elements of $\mathbb{P}(V^*)$, since $\mathcal{A}_v \cap \mathcal{A}_{v'} = \emptyset$ for $v \neq v'$.

We have to show that $\{v_1, v_2, v_3\}$ is a dependent set in $\mathcal{M}(3)$ if and only if the set $\{Q_{\nu_1}, Q_{\nu_2}, Q_{\nu_3}\}$ has rank 2. If $\{v_1, v_2, v_3\}$ is a flat in $L_2(\mathcal{M}(3))$, the rank property for $\{Q_{\nu_1}, Q_{\nu_2}, Q_{\nu_3}\}$ follows from the fact that the partition $\mathcal{A}_{\nu_1} \coprod \mathcal{A}_{\nu_2} \coprod \mathcal{A}_{\nu_3}$ defines a 3-net, according to [27, Theorem 3.11].

Conversely, let $\{v_1, v_2, v'_3\}$ be a size 3 independent subset of $\mathscr{M}(3)$, so that $v_1+v_2+v'_3 \neq 0$. Consider the flat $\{v_1, v_2, v_3\} \in L_2(\mathscr{M}(3))$, where $v_1 + v_2 + v_3 = 0$; in particular, $v_3 \neq v'_3$. Assume that $Q_{v'_3} = c_1Q_{v_1} + c_2Q_{v_2}$. Pick hyperplanes $H_1 \in \mathcal{A}_{v_1}$ and $H_2 \in \mathcal{A}_{v_2}$, and let $X = H_1 \cap H_2$. By the net property, there is a hyperplane $H_3 \in \mathcal{A}_{v_3}$ such that $\{H_1, H_2, H_3\} \subseteq \mathcal{A}_X$.

Let $x = \overline{X}$ be the intersection point of the projective lines $\overline{H_1}$ and $\overline{H_2}$. We then have $Q_{v_1}(x) = Q_{v_2}(x) = 0$, and thus $Q_{v'_3}(x) = 0$. Therefore, there is a hyperplane $H'_3 \in \mathcal{A}_{v'_3} \cap \mathcal{A}_X$. Consequently, the arrangement \mathcal{A}_X contains the four distinct hyperplanes $\{H_1, H_2, H_3, H'_3\}$. Hence, the flat X must be monocolor with respect to the collection $\{\mathcal{N}, \mathcal{N}', \mathcal{N}''\}$, that is, $\mathcal{A}_X \subseteq \mathcal{N}_i \cap \mathcal{N}'_j \cap \mathcal{N}''_k = \mathcal{A}_v$, where $v = (i, j, k) \in \mathcal{M}(3)$. Since $H_i \in \mathcal{A}_{v_i}$ for i = 1, 2, we infer that $v_1 = v_2 = v$, a contradiction. Our realizability claim is thus verified.

In view of Theorem 9.7, Theorem 9.10 will be proved once we are able to show that the independence property for $\{\mathcal{N}, \mathcal{N}', \mathcal{N}''\}$ forces both the strong intersection property and the net property.

Lemma 9.12. For a collection $\{N^1, \ldots, N^m\}$ of 3-nets on A, the intersection property implies both the strong intersection property and the net property.

Proof. We start with the net property. Let $X = \{v, v', v''\}$ be a flat in $L_2(\mathcal{M}(m))$. We know that the first two classes of the partition $(\mathcal{A}_v, \mathcal{A}_{v'}, \mathcal{A}_{v''})$ are non-empty. Write v =

 $(v_a) \in \mathbb{F}_3^m$, and similarly for v', v''. By construction of the matroid $\mathcal{M}(m)$, the elements $\{v_a, v'_a, v''_a\}$ are either all equal or all distinct, for any $a \in [m]$.

Pick $H \in \mathcal{A}_v$ and $H' \in \mathcal{A}_{v'}$. Then $H \in \mathcal{N}_{v_a}^a$ and $H' \in \mathcal{N}_{v'_a}^a$, for some *a* with $v_a \neq v'_a$, since $v \neq v'$. Hence $\{H, H', H''\} \in L_2(\mathcal{A})$, for a unique hyperplane H'', distinct from Hand H', and which belongs to $\mathcal{N}_{v''_a}^a$, by the net property for \mathcal{N}^a .

We are left with checking that $H'' \in A_{v''}$, that is, $H'' \in \mathcal{N}_{v''_b}^b$ for all $b \in [m]$. If $v_b \neq v'_b$, we may use the previous argument. If $v_b = v'_b$, then $v''_b = v_b = v'_b$. Note that $X \in L_2(\mathcal{N}_{v_b}^b)$ and therefore $H'' \in \mathcal{N}_{v_b}^b$, which is line-closed in \mathcal{A} , by Lemma 2.2(2). By the intersection property, $\mathcal{A}_{v''} \neq \emptyset$. According to Lemma 2.3, then, $\{\mathcal{N}^a\}$ has the net property.

It will be useful later on to extract from the preceding argument the following implication:

(65)
$$\mathcal{A}_{v}, \mathcal{A}_{v'} \neq \emptyset \Rightarrow \mathcal{A}_{q(v,v')} \neq \emptyset,$$

where q is defined in (60).

We deduce from the net property that $|A_v| = |A_{v'}| > 0$, for any $v \neq v' \in \mathcal{M}(m)$, by using the flat $X = \{v, v', q(v, v')\}$. The strong intersection property follows.

9.5. The closure operation. We have to analyze the relationship between the independence and the intersection properties. In one direction, things are easy.

Lemma 9.13. If a collection $\{\mathcal{N}^1, \ldots, \mathcal{N}^m\}$ of 3-nets on \mathcal{A} has the intersection property, the nets are independent.

Proof. We have to show that $\lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{N}^1), \ldots, \lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{N}^m)$ and σ are independent in $\mathbb{F}_3^{\mathcal{A}}$. Note that $\lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{N}^a)_H = v^a$, by construction, for any $v = (v^1, \ldots, v^m) \in \mathbb{F}_3^m$ and $H \in \mathcal{A}_v$. Independence then follows exactly as in the proof of Proposition 9.4.

For the converse, we will need the well-known line-closure operation from matroid theory (see for instance Halsey [29]). In the case of our family of matroids $\mathcal{M}(m)$, this operation may be conveniently described as follows. For a subset $\mathcal{M} \subseteq \mathcal{M}(m)$, put $C\mathcal{M} = \{q(u, v) \mid u, v \in \mathcal{M}\}$. Then iterate and define $\overline{C}\mathcal{M} = \bigcup_{s \ge 1} C^s \mathcal{M}$, the lineclosure of \mathcal{M} . The next lemma follows easily from the definitions.

Lemma 9.14. For each $m \ge 1$, the following hold.

- (1) If $\mathcal{M} \subseteq \mathcal{M}(m)$, then $\mathcal{M} \subseteq C\mathcal{M} \subseteq \overline{C}\mathcal{M}$.
- (2) If $\mathscr{M} \subseteq \mathscr{M}'$, then $C^{s}\mathscr{M} \subseteq C^{s}\mathscr{M}'$ for all s, and $\overline{C}\mathscr{M} \subseteq \overline{C}\mathscr{M}'$.
- (3) If $\mathcal{M} \subseteq \mathcal{M}'$ and the submatroid \mathcal{M}' is line-closed in $\mathcal{M}(m)$, then $C^s \mathcal{M}$ and $\overline{C}\mathcal{M}$ coincide, when computed in $\mathcal{M}(m)$ and \mathcal{M}' .

Given a collection $\{\mathcal{N}^a\}_{a\in[m]}$ of 3-nets on \mathcal{A} , set $\mathcal{M} = \{v \in \mathcal{M}(m) \mid \mathcal{A}_v \neq \emptyset\}$. We deduce from (65) the following characterization of the intersection property.

Corollary 9.15. The family $\{\mathcal{N}^1, \ldots, \mathcal{N}^m\}$ has the intersection property if and only if $\overline{C}\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}(m)$.

For m = 1, it is clear that independence implies the intersection property. We need to establish this implication for m = 3. We have to start with the case m = 2. In order to minimize the amount of subcase analysis, it is useful to make a couple of elementary remarks on matroid symmetry in the family $\{\mathcal{M}(m)\}_{m \ge 1}$.

Clearly, $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{M}(1)) = \Sigma_3$. It is equally clear that a partition $[m] = [n] \coprod [n']$ induces a natural morphism, $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{M}(n)) \times \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{M}(n')) \to \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{M}(m))$. We will need more details for m = 2.

Let $X = \{v, v', v''\}$ be a size 3 subset of \mathbb{F}_3^2 . It is easy to see that X is dependent if and only if $X = \{(i, 0), (i, 1), (i, 2)\}$, or $X = \{(0, j), (1, j), (2, j)\}$, or $X = \{(i, gi) \mid i \in \mathbb{F}_3\}$, for some $g \in \Sigma_3$.

Now assume that $X = \{(i, j), (i', j'), (i'', j'')\}$ is independent. Modulo $\Sigma_2 \subseteq GL_2$, we may assume that $|\{i, i', i''\}| = 2$. By $(\Sigma_3 \times id)$ -symmetry, we may normalize this to i = i' = 0 and i'' = 1, hence $j \neq j'$. If $|\{j, j', j''\}| = 3$, the flat X is normalized to $\{(0, 0), (0, 1), (1, 2)\}$, by $(id \times \Sigma_3)$ -symmetry. Otherwise, $X = \{(0, 0), (0, 1), v''\}$, with v'' = (1, 0) or v'' = (1, 1), and these two cases are GL₂-conjugate, as well as $\{(0, 0), (0, 1), (1, 0)\}$ and $\{(0, 0), (0, 1), (1, 2)\}$. To sum up, any independent subset of size 3 can be put in the normal form $\{(0, 0), (0, 1), (1, 0)\}$, modulo Aut $(\mathcal{M}(2))$.

Lemma 9.16. Let $\mathcal{M} \subseteq \mathcal{M}(2)$ be a submatroid with at least 3 elements.

- (1) If $|\mathcal{M}| = 3$ and \mathcal{M} is independent, then $\overline{C}\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}(2)$.
- (2) If $|\mathcal{M}| \ge 4$, then $\overline{C}\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}(2)$.

Proof. Part (1). First, put \mathcal{M} in normal form, as explained above. Then compute

$$\begin{array}{ll} q((0,0),(0,1))=(0,2), & q((0,0),(1,0))=(2,0), & q((0,2),(2,0))=(1,1), \\ q((1,0),(1,1))=(1,2), & q((0,1),(1,1))=(2,1), & q((0,0),(1,1))=(2,2), \end{array}$$

and note that all the resulting values of q belong to $\overline{C}\mathcal{M}$.

Part (2). Pick a size 4 subset $\{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4\} \subseteq \mathcal{M}$. Then $\{v_1, v_2, v_3\}$ and $\{v_1, v_2, v_4\}$ cannot be both dependent. Our claim follows from part (1) and Lemma 9.14(2).

We will need to know the behavior of the map $\lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}$: {3-nets on \mathcal{A} } $\rightarrow Z_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{A}) \setminus B_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{A})$ with respect to the natural Σ_3 -action on 3-nets. The description below does not require the realizability of the matroid \mathcal{A} .

Denote by $\sigma \in B_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{A})$ the constant cocycle equal to 1 on \mathcal{A} , as usual. Let $g \in \Sigma_3$ be the 3-cycle (1, 2, 0) and let $h \in \Sigma_3$ be the transposition (1, 2), both acting on \mathbb{F}_3 . It is readily checked that, for any 3-net \mathcal{N} on \mathcal{A} ,

(66)
$$\lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}(g \cdot \mathcal{N}) = \sigma + \lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{N}) \text{ and } \lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}(h \cdot \mathcal{N}) = -\lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{N}).$$

We may now settle the case m = 2.

Proposition 9.17. If \mathcal{N} and \mathcal{N}' are independent 3-nets on \mathcal{A} , then the pair $\{\mathcal{N}, \mathcal{N}'\}$ has the intersection property.

Proof. Plainly, for any $i \in \mathbb{F}_3$ there is a $j \in \mathbb{F}_3$ such that $\mathcal{A}_{(i,j)} = \mathcal{N}_i \cap \mathcal{N}'_j \neq \emptyset$ and similarly, for any $j \in \mathbb{F}_3$ there is an $i \in \mathbb{F}_3$ such that $\mathcal{A}_{(i,j)} \neq \emptyset$. In particular, $|\mathcal{M}| \ge 3$. If either $|\mathcal{M}| \ge 4$, or $|\mathcal{M}| = 3$ and \mathcal{M} is independent, we are done, in view of Lemma 9.16 and Corollary 9.15.

Assume then that $|\mathcal{M}| = 3$ and \mathcal{M} is dependent. According to a previous remark, $\mathcal{M} = \{(i, gi) \mid i \in \mathbb{F}_3\}$, for some $g \in \Sigma_3$. For any $i \in \mathbb{F}_3$, we infer that $\mathcal{N}_i = \coprod_j \mathcal{N}_i \cap \mathcal{N}'_j \subseteq \mathcal{N}'_{gi}$. Therefore, $\mathcal{N} = g \cdot \mathcal{N}'$. It follows from (66) that $[\lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{N})] = \pm [\lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{N}')]$, in contradiction with our independence assumption.

Corollary 9.18. Assume $L_2(\mathcal{A})$ contains no flats of multiplicity 3r, with r > 1. Then $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}) \ge 2$ if and only if there exist two 3-nets on \mathcal{A} , with parts $\{\mathcal{N}_i\}$ and $\{\mathcal{N}'_j\}$, respectively, such that $\mathcal{N}_i \cap \mathcal{N}'_j \ne \emptyset$, for all $i, j \in \mathbb{F}_3$.

Proof. Follows from Lemma 4.1, Lemma 4.8, Lemma 9.13 and Proposition 9.17.

9.6. A bound of $\beta_3(\mathcal{A})$. In this last subsection, we complete the proof of Theorem 1.6 from the Introduction. We start by analyzing the critical case, m = 3. Let $\{\mathcal{N}, \mathcal{N}', \mathcal{N}''\}$ be a triple of 3-nets on an arrangement \mathcal{A} , with parts $\{\mathcal{N}_i\}, \{\mathcal{N}'_i\}$, and $\{\mathcal{N}''_k\}$.

For a fixed $k \in \mathbb{F}_3$, set $\mathcal{M}_k = \{u \in \mathcal{M}(2) \mid (u, k) \in \mathcal{M}\}$. Hence, $\mathcal{M} = \coprod_{k \in \mathbb{F}_3} \mathcal{M}_k \times \{k\}$, where \mathcal{M}_k is identified with $\mathcal{M} \cap (\mathcal{M}(2) \times \{k\})$, and all submatroids $\mathcal{M}(2) \times \{k\}$ are line-closed in $\mathcal{M}(3)$ and isomorphic to $\mathcal{M}(2)$, as follows from Lemma 9.2.

We first exploit the independence property.

Lemma 9.19. If \mathcal{N} , \mathcal{N}' , and \mathcal{N}'' are independent 3-nets, then there is no $k \in \mathbb{F}_3$ such that \mathcal{M}_k is a size 3 dependent subset of $\mathcal{M}(2)$.

Proof. Assuming the contrary, let $h''_k: Z_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{A}) \to Z_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{A}''_k)$ be the canonical homomorphism associated to the net \mathcal{N}'' , as in Lemma 3.4. We know from Proposition 3.5 that $\ker(h''_k)$ is 1-dimensional. Let *h* be the restriction of h''_k to the 4-dimensional subspace of $Z_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{A})$ spanned by $\lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{N}), \lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{N}'), \lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{N}'')$ and σ , a subspace we shall denote by *Z*.

Note that all these 4 elements of $\mathbb{F}_3^{\mathcal{A}}$ are constant on \mathcal{A}_v , for any $v \in \mathcal{M}$, by construction. We deduce from our assumption on \mathcal{M}_k that \mathcal{A}_k'' is of the form

$$\mathcal{A}_k'' = \mathcal{A}_{(u_1,k)} \coprod \mathcal{A}_{(u_2,k)} \coprod \mathcal{A}_{(u_3,k)},$$

with $u_1 + u_2 + u_3 = 0 \in \mathbb{F}_3^2$. As noted before, composing *h* with the restriction maps from \mathcal{A}_k'' to $\mathcal{A}_{(u_i,k)}$ gives three linear maps, denoted $r_i \colon Z \to \mathbb{F}_3$. Moreover, ker(h) = ker(r), where $r = (r_1 r_2 r_3) \colon Z \to \mathbb{F}_3^3$. Since $\lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{N}) \equiv i$ on \mathcal{N}_i , and similarly for \mathcal{N}' and \mathcal{N}'' , we infer that the matrix of *r*

Since $\lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{N}) \equiv i$ on \mathcal{N}_i , and similarly for \mathcal{N}' and \mathcal{N}'' , we infer that the matrix of r is $\begin{pmatrix} u_1 & u_2 & u_3 \\ k & k & k \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$. The fact that $u_1 + u_2 + u_3 = 0$ implies that dim ker $(r) \ge 2$. Therefore, dim ker $(h''_k) \ge 2$, a contradiction.

Here is the analog of Proposition 9.17.

Proposition 9.20. If \mathcal{N} , \mathcal{N}' , \mathcal{N}'' are independent 3-nets on \mathcal{A} , then this triple of nets has the intersection property.

Proof. By Corollary 9.15, we have to show that $\overline{C}\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}(3)$. Due to Proposition 9.17, we know that $\mathcal{N}_i \cap \mathcal{N}'_j \neq \emptyset$, for all $i, j \in \mathbb{F}_3$. We deduce that, for any $u \in \mathcal{M}(2)$, there is $k \in \mathbb{F}_3$ such that $(u, k) \in \mathcal{M}$. In particular, $|\mathcal{M}| \ge 9$.

Similarly, for any $u \in \mathcal{M}(2)$, there is an element $k \in \mathbb{F}_3$ such that $(k, u) \in \mathcal{M}$, by using \mathcal{N}' and \mathcal{N}'' . This shows that we cannot have $\mathcal{M} \subseteq \mathcal{M}(2) \times \{k\}$, for some k, by taking u = (j', k'), with $k' \neq k$.

We claim that if $\mathscr{M}(2) \times \{k\} \subseteq \overline{C}\mathscr{M}$, for some $k \in \mathbb{F}_3$, then we are done. Indeed, pick $(u',k') \in \mathscr{M}$ with $k' \neq k$, take an arbitrary element $u \in \mathscr{M}(2)$, and compute $q((u,k),(u',k')) = (-u - u',k'') \in \overline{C}\mathscr{M}$, where k'' is the third element of \mathbb{F}_3 . This shows that $\mathscr{M}(2) \times \{k''\} \subseteq \overline{C}\mathscr{M}$. Again, $q((u,k''),(u',k)) = (-u - u',k') \in \overline{C}\mathscr{M}$, for all $u, u' \in \mathscr{M}(2)$. Hence, $\mathscr{M}(2) \times \{k'\} \subseteq \overline{C}\mathscr{M}$, and consequently $\overline{C}\mathscr{M} = \mathscr{M}(3)$, as claimed.

If $|\mathscr{M}_k| \ge 4$ for some $k \in \mathbb{F}_3$, then $\mathscr{M}(2) \times \{k\} \subseteq \overline{C}\mathscr{M}$, by Lemma 9.16(2) and Lemma 9.14(2)–(3). Otherwise, $|\mathscr{M}_k| = 3$, for all k. If \mathscr{M}_k is independent in $\mathscr{M}(2)$ for some k, Lemma 9.16(1) implies as before that $\mathscr{M}(2) \times \{k\} \subseteq \overline{C}\mathscr{M}$. The case when each \mathscr{M}_k is dependent in $\mathscr{M}(2)$ is ruled out by Lemma 9.19. Our proof is now complete. \Box

Putting together Proposition 9.20, Lemma 9.12, Theorem 9.11, and Theorem 9.7, we obtain the following corollary.

Corollary 9.21. No arrangement \mathcal{A} supports a triple of 3-nets $\mathcal{N}, \mathcal{N}', \mathcal{N}''$ such that $[\lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{N})], [\lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{N}')], and [\lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{N}'')]$ are independent in $\mathbb{Z}_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{A})/B_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{A})$.

We are finally in a position to prove Theorem 9.10, and thus complete the proof of Theorem 1.6 in the Introduction.

Proof of Theorem 9.10. By assumption, $L_2(\mathcal{A})$ has no flats of multiplicity properly divisible by 3. Hence, by Lemma 4.1 and Lemma 4.8, the image of the map $\lambda_{\mathbb{F}_3}$ is $Z_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{A}) \setminus B_{\mathbb{F}_3}(\mathcal{A})$. Therefore, by Corollary 9.21, we must have $\beta_3(\mathcal{A}) \leq 2$.

Acknowledgments. The foundational work for this paper was started while the two authors visited the Max Planck Institute for Mathematics in Bonn in April–May 2012. The work was pursued while the second author visited the Institute of Mathematics of the Romanian Academy in June, 2012 and June, 2013, and MPIM Bonn in September–October 2013. Thanks are due to both institutions for their hospitality, support, and excellent research atmosphere.

A preliminary version of some of the results in this paper was presented by the first author in an invited address, titled *Geometry of homology jump loci and topology*, and delivered at the Joint International Meeting of the American Mathematical Society and the Romanian Mathematical Society, held in Alba Iulia, Romania, in June 2013. He thanks the organizers for the opportunity. The construction of the matroid family from Section 9 emerged from conversations with Anca Măcinic, to whom we are grateful. We also thank Masahiko Yoshinaga, for a useful discussion related to Lemma 4.8, which inspired us to obtain Theorem 1.3. Finally, we thank the referees for their useful suggestions.

References

- D. Arapura, *Geometry of cohomology support loci for local systems* I, J. Algebraic Geom. 6 (1997), no. 3, 563–597. MR1487227 1.8, 6.1, 8.2
- [2] E. Artal Bartolo, J.I. Cogolludo, D. Matei, *Characteristic varieties of quasi-projective manifolds and orbifolds*, Geom. Topol. **17** (2013), no. 1, 273–309. MR3035328 1.8, 8.5, 8.5
- [3] P. Bailet, M. Yoshinaga, Degeneration of Orlik-Solomon algebras and Milnor fibers of complex line arrangements, Geom. Dedicata 175 (2015), no. 1, 49–56. MR3323628 1.8
- [4] N. Budur, A. Dimca, M. Saito, *First Milnor cohomology of hyperplane arrangements*, in: Topology of algebraic varieties and singularities, 279–292, Contemp. Math., vol. 538, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2011. MR2777825 1.8
- [5] J.I. Cogolludo-Agustín, A. Libgober, Mordell–Weil groups of elliptic threefolds and the Alexander module of plane curves, J. Reine Angew. Math. 697 (2014), 15–55. MR3281651 1.8
- [6] D. Cohen, A. Dimca, P. Orlik, Nonresonance conditions for arrangements, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 53 (2003), no. 6, 1883–1896. MR2038782 1.8
- [7] D. Cohen, P. Orlik, Arrangements and local systems, Math. Res. Lett. 7 (2000), no. 2-3, 299–316.
 MR1764324 1.6, 1.8
- [8] D. Cohen, A.I. Suciu, On Milnor fibrations of arrangements, J. London Math. Soc. (2) 51 (1995), no. 1, 105–119. MR1310725 1.8, 8.3
- [9] D. Cohen, A.I. Suciu, *Characteristic varieties of arrangements*, Math. Proc. Cambridge Phil. Soc. 127 (1999), no. 1, 33–53. MR1692519 1.4, 1.8, 6.1, 7.8, 8.2
- [10] B.L. Davis, D. Maclagan, *The card game SET*, Math. Intelligencer 25 (2003), no. 3, 33–40. MR2005098 9.1
- G. Denham, *The Orlik-Solomon complex and Milnor fibre homology*, Topology Appl. 118 (2002), no. 1-2, 45–63. MR1877715 1.8
- [12] G. Denham, A.I. Suciu, Multinets, parallel connections, and Milnor fibrations of arrangements, Proc. London Math. Soc. 108 (2014), no. 6, 1435–1470. MR3218315 1.8, 8.1
- [13] A. Dimca, Characteristic varieties and constructible sheaves, Rend. Lincei Mat. Appl. 18 (2007), no. 4, 365–389. MR2349994 1.8
- [14] A. Dimca, *Monodromy of triple point line arrangements*, in: Singularities in Geometry and Topology 2011, 71–80, Adv. Stud. Pure Math., vol. 66, Math. Soc. Japan, Tokyo, 2015. MR3382043 1.2, 1.8, 8.9
- [15] A. Dimca, Tate properties, polynomial-count varieties, and monodromy of hyperplane arrangements, Nagoya Math. J. 206 (2012), 75–97. MR2926485 1.8
- [16] A. Dimca, The Poincaré-Deligne polynomial of Milnor fibers of triple point line arrangements is combinatorially determined, Canadian Math. Bull. 59 (2016), no. 2, 279–286. MR3492639 1.8
- [17] A. Dimca, On the Milnor monodromy of the irreducible complex reflection arrangements, arXiv: 1606.04048.1.9, 8.15
- [18] A. Dimca, D. Ibadula, A. Măcinic, Pencil type line arrangements of low degree: classification and monodromy, Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. 15 (2016), 249–267. MR3495428 1.2, 1.8, 2.5, 2.5, 3.8, 3.9, 8.7

49

- [19] A. Dimca, G. Lehrer, On the cohomology of the Milnor fibre of a hyperplane arrangement with symmetry, in: Configuration Spaces: Geometry, Topology and Representation Theory, 319–360, Springer INdAM Series, vol. 14, Springer, Cham, 2016. 1.8
- [20] A. Dimca, S. Papadima, Finite Galois covers, cohomology jump loci, formality properties, and multinets, Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. 10 (2011), no. 2, 253–268. MR2856148 1.8, 8.4, 8.7
- [21] A. Dimca, S. Papadima, Nonabelian cohomology jump loci from an analytic viewpoint, Commun. Contemp. Math. 16 (2014), no. 4, 1350025 (47 p). MR3231055 1.7, 5.1
- [22] A. Dimca, S. Papadima, A.I. Suciu, *Topology and geometry of cohomology jump loci*, Duke Math. Journal **148** (2009), no. 3, 405–457. MR2527322 1.7, 5.1, 6.1, 6.1, 8.2
- [23] A. Dimca, G. Sticlaru, On the Milnor monodromy of the exceptional reflection arrangement of type G_{31} , arxiv: 1606.06615. 1.9, 8.15
- [24] M. Falk, Arrangements and cohomology, Ann. Combin. 1 (1997), no. 2, 135–157. MR1629681 3.3
- [25] M. Falk, The line geometry of resonance varieties, arxiv:math/0405210. 3.3, 3.3
- [26] M. Falk, Resonance varieties over fields of positive characteristic, Int. Math. Res. Not. 2007 (2007), no. 3, article ID rnm009, 25 pages. MR2337033 1.4, 3.3
- [27] M. Falk, S. Yuzvinsky, *Multinets, resonance varieties, and pencils of plane curves*, Compositio Math. 143 (2007), no. 4, 1069–1088. MR2339840 1.4, 1.8, 2.3, 2.3, 6.2, 6.2, 6.4, 8.4, 8.7, 8.10, 8.11, 9.4
- [28] W. Goldman, J. Millson, The deformation theory of representations of fundamental groups of compact Kähler manifolds, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 67 (1988), 43–96. MR0972343 1.7
- [29] M.D. Halsey, Line-closed combinatorial geometries, Discrete Math. 65 (1987), no. 3, 245–248. MR0897649 9.5
- [30] H. Hauser, R. Randell, *Report on the problem session*, in: Singularities (Iowa City, IA, 1986), 119– 134, Contemp. Math., vol. 90, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1989. MR1000597 1.2
- [31] F. Hirzebruch, Arrangements of lines and algebraic surfaces, in: Arithmetic and geometry, vol. II, 113–140, Progr. Math., vol. 36, Birkhäuser, Boston, MA, 1983. MR0717609 9.2
- [32] M. Kapovich, J. Millson, On representation varieties of Artin groups, projective arrangements and the fundamental groups of smooth complex algebraic varieties, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 88 (1998), 5–95. MR1733326 1.7
- [33] Y. Kawahara, The non-vanishing cohomology of Orlik-Solomon algebras, Tokyo J. Math. 30 (2007), no. 1, 223–238. MR2328065 2.4, 2.4
- [34] R. Kirby, *Problems in low-dimensional topology*, in: Geometric topology (Athens, GA, 1993), 35–473, AMS/IP Stud. Adv. Math., vol. 2.2., Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1997. MR1470751
 1.2
- [35] A. Libgober, Alexander polynomial of plane algebraic curves and cyclic multiple planes, Duke Math. J. 49 (1982), no. 4, 833–851. MR0683005 1.3
- [36] A. Libgober, *Eigenvalues for the monodromy of the Milnor fibers of arrangements*, Trends in singularities, 141–150, Trends Math., Birkhäuser, Basel, 2002. MR1900784 1.3, 1.8
- [37] A. Libgober, On combinatorial invariance of the cohomology of Milnor fiber of arrangements and Catalan equation over function field, in: Arrangements of hyperplanes (Sapporo 2009), 175–187, Adv. Stud. Pure Math., vol. 62, Math. Soc. Japan, Tokyo, 2012. MR2933797 1.2, 1.3, 1.8
- [38] A. Libgober, S. Yuzvinsky, Cohomology of Orlik–Solomon algebras and local systems, Compositio Math. 21 (2000), no. 3, 337–361. MR1761630 1.4, 6.1, 8.2
- [39] A. Măcinic, S. Papadima, On the monodromy action on Milnor fibers of graphic arrangements, Topology Appl. 156 (2009), no. 4, 761–774. MR2492960 1.6, 1.8, 1.9, 7.7, 7.8
- [40] A. Măcinic, S. Papadima, R. Popescu, Modular equalities for complex reflection arrangements, to appear in Documenta Math., available at arxiv: 1406.7137. 1.9, 8.10, 8.15

- [41] A. Măcinic, S. Papadima, R. Popescu, A.I. Suciu, *Flat connections and resonance varieties: from rank one to higher ranks*, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **369** (2017), no. 2, 1309–1343. MR3572275 1.7, 5.1, 5.2, 5.2, 5.3, 7.2, 7.2, 7.3
- [42] W. Magnus, A. Karrass, D. Solitar, *Combinatorial group theory* (2nd ed.), Dover, New York, 1976. MR0422434 5.4
- [43] M.A. Marco Buzunáriz, A description of the resonance variety of a line combinatorics via combinatorial pencils, Graphs Combin. 25 (2009), no. 4, 469–488. MR2575595 1.4, 1.8, 3.3, 6.2
- [44] D. Matei, A.I. Suciu, Cohomology rings and nilpotent quotients of real and complex arrangements, in: Arrangements–Tokyo 1998, pp. 185–215, Adv. Stud. Pure Math., vol. 27, Math. Soc. Japan, Tokyo, 2000. MR1796900 3.3
- [45] J. Milnor, Singular points of complex hypersurfaces, Annals of Math. Studies, vol. 61, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, NJ, 1968. MR0239612 1.1
- [46] P. Orlik, L. Solomon, Combinatorics and topology of complements of hyperplanes, Invent. Math. 56 (1980), no. 2, 167–189. MR0558866 1.4, 3.1
- [47] J.G. Oxley, *Matroid theory*, Oxford Science Publications, The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1992. MR1207587 1.5, 9.9
- [48] S. Papadima, A.I. Suciu, *Chen Lie algebras*, Int. Math. Res. Not. **2004** (2004), no. 21, 1057–1086. MR2037049 5.3
- [49] S. Papadima, A.I. Suciu, *The spectral sequence of an equivariant chain complex and homology with local coefficients*, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **362** (2010), no. 5, 2685–2721. MR2584616 1.6, 1.6, 1.8, 8.1, 8.2
- [50] J. Pereira, S. Yuzvinsky, Completely reducible hypersurfaces in a pencil, Adv. Math. 219 (2008), no. 2, 672–688. MR2435653 1.8, 2.4
- [51] H. Schenck, A.I. Suciu, Resonance, linear syzygies, Chen groups, and the Bernstein–Gelfand– Gelfand correspondence, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 358 (2005), no. 5, 2269–2289. MR2197444 7.8
- [52] A.I. Suciu, Hyperplane arrangements and Milnor fibrations, Ann. Fac. Sci. Toulouse Math. 23 (2014), no. 2, 417–481. MR3205599 1.8, 8.1, 8.3
- [53] A.I. Suciu, On the topology of Milnor fibrations of hyperplane arrangements, to appear in Rev. Roumaine Math. Pures Appl. 62 (2017), no. 1, 191–215, available at arxiv: 1607.06340. 1.8
- [54] M. Torielli, M. Yoshinaga, Resonant bands, Aomoto complex, and real 4-nets, J. Singul. 11 (2015), 33–51. MR3332962 1.8
- [55] G. Urzúa, On line arrangements with applications to 3-nets, Adv. Geom. 10 (2010), no. 2, 287–310. MR2629816 2.5
- [56] R.J. Wilson, An introduction to matroid theory, Amer. Math. Monthly 80 (1973), no. 5, 500–525. MR0371694 2.1
- [57] M. Yoshinaga, *Milnor fibers of real line arrangements*, J. Singul. **7** (2013), 220–237. MR3090727 1.9, 2.3
- [58] S. Yuzvinsky, *Realization of finite abelian groups by nets in* P², Compos. Math. 140 (2004), no. 6, 1614–1624. MR2098405 1.5, 2.3, 2.4, 2.5, 2.5, 8.7, 9.3, 9.6
- [59] S. Yuzvinsky, A new bound on the number of special fibers in a pencil of curves, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 137 (2009), no. 5, 1641–1648. MR2470822 1.5, 1.8, 2.4

SIMION STOILOW INSTITUTE OF MATHEMATICS, P.O. Box 1-764, RO-014700 BUCHAREST, ROMANIA *E-mail address*: Stefan.Papadima@imar.ro

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, NORTHEASTERN UNIVERSITY, BOSTON, MA 02115, USA *E-mail address*: a.suciu@neu.edu *URL*: www.northeastern.edu/suciu/